Concordia University St. Paul

DigitalCommons@CSP

CUP Ed.D. Dissertations

Concordia University Portland Graduate Research

4-1-2019

Middle School Teacher Perceptions of the Use of the Growth Mindset Strategies to Improve Student Motivation in Title I Schools

Aressa R. Jones Concordia University - Portland, aressajones@hotmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.csp.edu/cup_commons_grad_edd



Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Jones, A. R. (2019). Middle School Teacher Perceptions of the Use of the Growth Mindset Strategies to Improve Student Motivation in Title I Schools (Thesis, Concordia University, St. Paul). Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.csp.edu/cup_commons_grad_edd/318

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Concordia University Portland Graduate Research at DigitalCommons@CSP. It has been accepted for inclusion in CUP Ed.D. Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@CSP. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@csp.edu.

Concordia University - Portland

CU Commons

Ed.D. Dissertations

Graduate Theses & Dissertations

4-2019

Middle School Teacher Perceptions of the Use of the Growth Mindset Strategies to Improve Student Motivation in Title I **Schools**

Aressa R. Jones Concordia University - Portland

Follow this and additional works at: https://commons.cu-portland.edu/edudissertations



Part of the Education Commons

CU Commons Citation

Jones, Aressa R., "Middle School Teacher Perceptions of the Use of the Growth Mindset Strategies to Improve Student Motivation in Title I Schools" (2019). Ed.D. Dissertations. 276. https://commons.cu-portland.edu/edudissertations/276

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Theses & Dissertations at CU Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Ed.D. Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CU Commons. For more information, please contact libraryadmin@cu-portland.edu.

Concordia University-Portland

College of Education

Doctorate of Education Program

WE, THE UNDERSIGNED MEMBERS OF THE DISSERTATION COMMITTEE CERTIFY THAT WE HAVE READ AND APPROVE THE DISSERTATION OF

Aressa Rochelle Jones

CANDIDATE FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

Rinyka Allison, Ph.D., Faculty Chair Dissertation Committee

Bill Boozang, Ed.D., Content Specialist

Meg Cavalier, Ed.D., Content Reader

Middle School Teacher Perceptions of the use of the Growth Mindset Strategies to Improve Student Motivation in a Title I School

Aressa R. Jones

Concordia University-Portland

College of Education

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the College of Education
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education in

Transformational Leadership

Rinyka Allison, Ph.D., Faculty Chair Dissertation Committee

Bill Boozang, Ed.D., Content Specialist

Meg Cavalier, Ed.D., Content Reader

Concordia University–Portland

Abstract

Students are motivated to perform tasks by either external or internal factors. Current research has shown that teachers in Title I schools face challenges when trying to motivate students. These challenges can cause teachers in Title I schools to have different perceptions about the motivations of the students. The growth mindset theory and the theory of motivation make up the conceptual framework used for this study. The researcher designed the research question in order to examine the perceptions of three male and three female teachers who teach in a Title I middle school in a moderately sized urban school district. The researcher gathered data from initial, follow-up interviews, and a focus group. The researcher employed the use of the interpretive and inductive method to analyze the data. The analysis consisted of (a) reading and re-reading the transcripts, (b) categorizing the data into common themes, (c) reducing and combining similar themes, and (d) checking the final themes for relevance to the research question. The recommendation of the study is to tailor the professional development in the area of growth mindset toward the specific populations of the school and the needs of the students they serve. Implications for change are that students, educators, administrators, and policymakers may be more aware of the practices necessary to transform the mindset of the teachers and students from fixed to growth in order to influence student motivation and improve the academic success of students throughout high school and beyond.

Keywords: growth mindset, fixed mindset, intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation, academic achievement

Dedication

I want to dedicate this study to my students who have taught me more about love, acceptance, and perseverance than they will ever know. To my sister Nicole and my niece Bre who pushed me to keep going and taught me that what I thought were my limits were only on the edge of what I could do and how far I could go. Thank you for waking me when I fell asleep while working or forcing me to do "one more page". To my parents, who are my greatest supporters, thank you for always being my loudest cheerleaders. I hope I make you proud. To my pastor, friends, and co-workers who provided me with so many words of encouragement, thank you for believing in me even when I did not believe in myself. To the principal of my school and my school district. Thank you for allowing me to conduct my study and achieve a life-long goal. Most importantly, I thank God who by His Spirit reminded me daily that I was not alone in this journey and that "I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me."

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank Concordia University–Portland for offering this program and accepting me into it. I want to thank my faculty chair, Dr. Rinyka Allison, whose constant encouragement, knowledge, and guidance was valuable in ways she will never understand. I also want to thank my content reader, Dr. Bill Boozang and my content specialist, Dr. Meg Cavalier, who without the extensive knowledge of case studies and APA I would have never been able to write this dissertation. To all my professors along this journey, thank you for transforming me into a doctoral level student with your patience, feedback, and expertise. I must say thank you to my participants who cheerfully took part in this study to help me achieve my goal. I could not have done it without all of you. This journey has forever changed me, and as it comes to an end, I pray that I walk worthy of this degree by sharing what I've learned to transform this world into a better place one person at a time.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
List of Tables	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Introduction to the Problem	1
Background, Context, History, and Conceptual Framework for the Problem	2
Growth Mindset Theory	3
Theory of Motivation	4
Statement of the Problem	5
Purpose of the Study	6
Research Question	6
Rationale, Relevance, and Significance of the Study	6
Definition of Terms	7
Assumptions, Delimitations, and Limitations	7
Assumptions	7
Delimitations	8
Limitations	8
Chapter 1 Summary	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	10
Introduction	10
Conceptual Framework	12

The Growth Mindset Theory	12
The Growth Mindset Strategies	12
Mindset and Student Achievement	13
Teacher Perceptions about Mindset	13
Mindset and Socioeconomic Status	14
The Theory of Motivation	14
Review of Literature and Methodological Literature	15
The Growth Mindsets of Students	15
Mindset and Achievement	17
Teacher's Perceptions about Growth Mindset	18
Title I Teachers' Perceptions about Growth Mindset and Academic Achievement	21
Review of Methodological Issues	23
Research Design	24
Replication	25
Reliability	26
Generalizability	27
Selection of Participants	27
Ethical Protection of Participants	29
Assessment Instruments	30
Synthesis of Research Findings	31
Critique of Previous Research	34
Chapter 2 Summary	37
Chapter 3: Methodology	40

Introduction	40
Purpose of the Study	40
Research Question	41
Research Approach and Design	41
Role of the Researcher	43
The Context of the Study	45
Setting	45
Invitation to Participate	46
Selection of Participants	47
Data Collection Instruments	48
Interview Protocol	48
Focus Group Protocol	50
Data Collection Procedures	50
Initial Interview	50
Follow-Up Interview	51
Focus Group	52
Data Analysis Procedures	53
Limitations of Research Design	54
Data Quality	55
Credibility	55
Generalization	56
Trustworthiness	57
Expected Findings	58

Measure for Ethical Protections of Participants	58
Conflict of Interest Assessment	58
Researcher's Position	59
Ethical Issues in the Study	59
Chapter 3 Summary	60
Chapter 4: Data Analysis and Results	62
Introduction	62
Description of the Sample	63
Research Methodology and Analysis	66
Summary of the Findings	68
Presentation of the Data and Results	69
Initial Interviews	70
Understanding the Mindset	70
Use of Growth Mindset Strategies	73
Understanding Motivation	75
Current Motivation of the Students	76
Influencing Teacher Practice	78
Growth mindset behaviors	80
The fixed mindset behaviors	81
Follow-Up Interviews	82
Attitudes about Growth Mindset	82
Extrinsic Versus Intrinsic Motivation	83
Changes in Student Motivation	84

Motivation and Academic Success	86
General Perceptions of Growth Mindset Practices	87
Focus Group	88
Using the Growth Mindset to Respond to Students	89
Embracing Failure	91
Celebrating Improvement Great and Small	92
Teacher Mindset	93
Chapter 4 Summary	95
Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion	97
Introduction	97
Summary of the Results	98
Discussion of the Results	99
Teacher's Perceptions of Growth Mindset Practices	100
Teacher's Perceptions of the Impact of Growth Mindset on Motivation	101
Discussion of the Results in Relation to the Literature	103
Limitations	106
Implications of the Results for Practice, Policy, and Theory	107
Practice	107
Teachers	108
Administrators	108
Students	109
Policy	109
Teacher accountability.	109

School accountability	110
Theory	110
Growth mindset	111
Motivation	111
Recommendations for Further Research	112
Conclusion	113
References	116
Appendix A: Invitation to Participate Letter	133
Appendix B: Consent Form	134
Appendix C: Initial Interview Questions	136
Appendix D: Follow-Up Interview Questions	138
Appendix E: Focus Group Questions	139
Appendix F: Statement of Original Work	141

List of Tables

Table 1. Student Demographics	64
Table 2. Participant Demographics	66
Table 3. Main Themes	69
Table 4. Factors Influencing Classroom Practice	80
Table 5. Changes in Student Motivation	86

Chapter 1: Introduction

Introduction to the Problem

Humans perform specific tasks or actions based on a motivating factor. They are either motivated by some internal or external factor. Motivation then can be defined as a process of acting or behaving in a certain way in order to reach a particular goal (Árnason, 2006). Usually, once the goal is reached or in cases where the goal seems too difficult to reach, the behavior influenced by the motivating factor stops. Schools often use some reward or punishment system in order to get students to complete a specific task or reach a particular goal. This method of external stimulus is known as extrinsic motivation (Árnason, 2006; Bowman, 2011; Santos, 2014). As students enter middle school and high school, the reward systems are still used but less frequently. The students are expected to rely on internal motivation in order to achieve their goals. Relying on internal stimuli to complete a task or reach a goal is referred to as intrinsic motivation (Árnason, 2006; Bowman, 2011; Gutshall, 2013; Rhew, 2017; Ruiz, 2010; Santos, 2014).

Extrinsic motivators produce only a short-term effect while intrinsic motivators produce a long-term effect (Árnason, 2006; Bowman, 2011; Gutshall, 2013; Rhew, 2017; Ruiz, 2010; Santos, 2014). Middle school teachers must find strategies to use in the classroom that will improve the intrinsic motivation of the students. Without being intrinsically motivated, students will have a difficult time finishing high school or continuing beyond high school if they manage to graduate (Brysacz, 2017). One factor contributing to the problem of intrinsic motivation is the mindset of the student (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Rhew, 2017). Teachers who attend training on growth mindset strategies and how to effectively implement them in the classroom can not only influence the intrinsic

motivation of the students but the mindset and motivation of the teachers as well (Schmidt, Shumow, & Kackar-Cam, 2015).

Background, Context, History, and Conceptual Framework for the Problem

Although the high school dropout rate continues to improve, students in Title I middle schools still struggle to remain motivated once they leave middle school. Title I middle school teachers struggle to get their students to take a risk, embrace errors, and enjoy learning (Jensen, 2014). Intrinsic motivation is the will or desire to complete a task or accomplish a goal in the absence of external motivators. A contributing factor to the inability of the students to persevere through high school is the lack of intrinsic motivation (Árnason, 2006; Bowman, 2011; Gutshall, 2013; Rhew, 2017; Ruiz, 2010; Santos, 2014). Teachers who encourage students to think more abstractly and take more risks report higher levels of intrinsic motivation (Jensen, 2014; Kiefer, Ellerbrock, & Alley, 2015).

Working in a Title I school presents many challenges to the teachers who work there. Facing the challenges can become frustrating and cause the teachers to develop a fixed mindset about the abilities of their students (Jensen, 2014). The mindset of the teacher is as important as the mindset of the students because of the influence teachers have on students' beliefs about their abilities (Kiefer et al., 2015). In other words, if the teachers do not believe the students can learn and grow, the students will adopt that same mindset. The problematic result of teachers with a fixed mindset is students who do not believe in their abilities and therefore, do not think abstractly or take risks. They view their errors as a sign of failure and not an opportunity for growth (Muñoz, Scoskie, & French, 2013).

While there is nothing wrong with external motivation, if it is overused, it can reduce the amount of intrinsic motivation a student has (Árnason, 2006). The student becomes dependent on

the presence of the reward or consequence before completing a task or accomplishing a goal. Once students leave the middle school environment and move on to the high school environment, intrinsic motivation is all the more critical because if the student loses interest in learning, they can become unmotivated. A lack of intrinsic motivation could lead to the student dropping out of high school (Ruiz, 2010; Yeager et al., 2016). Growth mindset strategies can improve the intrinsic motivation of the students (Dweck, 2010). In order for the growth mindset practices to work, teachers have to believe in the effect of growth mindset practices on the intrinsic motivation of the students. Without teacher buy-in, the strategies will either not be implemented at all or will not implement with fidelity (Seaton, 2017). Working with students in Title I schools can be challenging, but with the right strategies in place students who attend Title I schools can be equipped with a growth mindset and the intrinsic motivation to close learning gaps and mirror the academic achievement of their peers in non-Title I schools (Gutshall, 2013; Jensen, 2014; Ruiz, 2010).

Growth Mindset Theory

One of the two theories used as the conceptual framework for this study is Dweck's growth mindset theory. The growth mindset is the belief in developing intelligence through learning and effort (Dweck, 2010). Students that have a growth mindset are eager to learn, and as a result, get better grades and achieve higher test scores. Students with a negative stereotype associated with their socioeconomic status, ethnicity, or gender tend to develop a fixed mindset about their abilities (Dweck, 2010). The same could be true of females in STEM careers or males in careers such as nursing (Funk & Parker, 2018). It is essential to address the assumptions and presuppositions of teachers in Title I schools so that those assumptions are not projected through their classroom practices, further ensuring that the mindsets of the students remain fixed. Making

sure that the school and classroom culture exemplifies growth mindset will go a long way toward improving the mindset of the student and ultimately improving their intrinsic motivation (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Rhew, 2017; Yeager et al., 2016).

Theory of Motivation

The second theory used as the conceptual framework is based on Bedford's (2017) theory of motivation. According to Bedford (2017), motivation is the internal state of arousal that directs one's behavior toward completing a specific task or achieving a particular goal. This arousal can come from an external stimulus such as praise, rewards, or punishment (extrinsic) or the internal satisfaction one gets from the accomplishment (intrinsic). In 1949, Harry F. Harlow experimented with monkeys and puzzles. He discovered that the monkeys were not motivated by extrinsic rewards but for the enjoyment or satisfaction they got from completing the puzzle (Bowman, 2011). He considered this phenomenon to be a third drive in the theory of motivation and called it *intrinsic motivation* (Bowman, 2011).

Other researchers, such as Deci in 1969, took Harlow's theory and expanded it to determine the benefits or potential risks of extrinsic motivators (Bowman, 2011). The data from Amabile's (1996) study reveals that extrinsic motivation was useful for completing tasks that were algorithmic but harmful for tasks that require thinking or creativity (Bowman, 2011). Dweck (2010) insists that growth mindset practices increase students' effort and motivates them to persevere when faced with challenging work. While it is true that motivation is not a measurable action, researchers can draw conclusions on which types of factors, internal or external, cause a particular behavior (Árnason, 2006).

Statement of the Problem

There is a problem in Title I middle schools. Despite the efforts that teachers put into encouraging the students to become self-reliant and intrinsically motivated, there are still a large number of students that leave middle school but do not graduate high school or pursue postsecondary education. This problem has negatively impacted students from low socioeconomic households, minority students, and special education students (National Middle School Association, 2009). According to the National Center for Education Statistics (2017), 75% of African American students and 78% of Hispanic students graduate high school. A large percentage of those who drop out do so during or after the student's ninth grade. The dropout rates of students who enter college but drop out before earning a degree are even higher.

Nonetheless, teachers in Title I middle schools continue to face the challenge of increasing the motivation of their students (Hooker, 2013). Middle school teachers in Title I schools need the essential strategies to help increase the intrinsic motivation of their students.

There have been several studies conducted that reveal that by implementing growth mindset strategies students are more apt to be intrinsically motivated academically (Baldridge, 2010; Gutshall, 2014; Rhew, 2017). While there have been several mixed methods and quantitative studies of the impact of growth mindset interventions on student motivation, these studies have been specific to a particular content area such as reading or science (Antweil, n.d.; Árnason, 2006; Bedford, 2017). Additionally, there has been a scarcity of research conducted examining Title I middle school teacher's perceptions as it relates to how a student's growth mindset may impact a student's academic performance.

Purpose of the Study

Through the framework of the growth mindset theory and the theory of motivation, this exploratory case study is designed to better understand the perceptions of teachers in a Title I middle school. This study seeks to close some of the gaps in previous research by examining the perception of middle school teachers in a Title I school. Through a qualitative exploratory case study design, this research examines the effects of growth mindset practices in the classroom and how those practices impact student motivation. The findings could reveal valuable insights into student motivation and influence future research on the topic at the middle school level.

Research Question

The research question for this study is as follows: How do the perceptions of Title I middle school teachers impact the intrinsic motivation of students as it relates to the use of growth mindset strategies in the classroom?

Rationale, Relevance, and Significance of the Study

The rationale of this research is to improve the classroom practices of the participants through the sharing of experiences and knowledge. Informing other Title I schools and other school districts about ways to improve the intrinsic motivation of students who are stereotyped as challenging to motivate gives this research relevance. The significance of improving training programs for teachers to include growth mindset strategies and improving the intrinsic motivation of the students can further reduce high school and college dropout rates.

I chose this research because as a teacher who has taught in a Title I middle school for over seven years, I have taught many students who drop out before completing their freshman year of high school. The chief complaint of the students was that they did not know how to "do it" without their middle school teachers. They were so used to the extrinsic motivators we

provide at the middle school level that once they made it to high school, they were not equipped with the intrinsic motivation to persevere. My desire is that we do a better job at the middle school level, especially in Title I schools of creating a growth mindset in the students, which will improve their eagerness to learn and intrinsic motivation.

Definition of Terms

Exploratory case study: exploratory case studies explore a specific phenomenon that is a point of interest to the researcher (Zainal, 2007).

Extrinsic motivation: encourages an individual to perform a specific task in order to receive a particular reward or avoid punishment (Árnason, 2006).

Fixed mindset: the belief that intelligence a static trait and cannot be changed (Dweck, 2010).

Growth mindset: the belief that intelligence can improve upon learning and effort (Dweck, 2010).

Growth mindset theory: the idea that an individual's belief about their intelligence has many implications for their achievement and learning (Dweck, 2016).

Intrinsic motivation: the desire to act based on internal stimuli without the need for external rewards or punishments (Árnason, 2006).

Theory of motivation: the desire to complete an action or accomplish a goal because of internal or external stimuli (Bowman, 2011).

Assumptions, Delimitations, and Limitations

Assumptions

There are several assumptions to consider as it relates to this study. One assumption is that all teachers who use growth mindset practices in their classrooms will benefit from better

student performance. Another assumption is that all participants are implementing growth mindset practices in their classrooms based on the series of training that took place during the 2017–2018 academic school year. Additionally, the teachers that use growth mindset practices will view their students' academic abilities differently. All students will benefit from the growth mindset practices in the classroom and will become more eager to learn.

Delimitations

This study was delimited to sixth, seventh, and eighth-grade teachers who teach in a Title I middle school. The teacher must currently teach in a Title I middle school and be actively using growth mindset strategies in their classroom. The criteria used in this exploratory case study includes: (a) teaches sixth, seventh, or eighth grade; (b) teach in the Title I middle school where the study will take place; and (c) use growth mindset strategies in their classroom. The site for the study was selected because the Title I school chosen for the study serves predominantly Hispanic and Black students. Research indicates that these students have a more difficult time with motivation with one potential factor being the stereotypes placed on their ability to learn (Dweck, 2010; Jensen, 2014).

Limitations

Case studies have several limitations. The first limitation is the sample size as six middle school teachers participated in the study (Price & Murnan, 2004). Since interviews and a focus group will be used to collect data for this study, a small sample size makes sense in respect to the time constraints it takes to collect and analyze interview data (Creswell, 2015). Another limitation is that only one school will be used to recruit participants. The specific nature of this study makes generalizations of the findings to other middle schools difficult.

Chapter 1 Summary

Motivation is necessary for completing tasks, achieving goals, and persevering in the face of challenges. During adolescence, motivation becomes more difficult for students. With all the peer pressure and other worries that come with being a teenager, students can lose focus on learning. (Árnason, 2006; Bowman, 2011). Motivation and an eagerness to learn can be even more difficult for Latino and Black students because of the stereotypes placed on their ability to learn (Dweck, 2010). Teachers in Title I schools struggle to find ways to motivate students and therefore depend on many extrinsic motivators to get students to complete tasks (Jensen, 2014). Teachers must find strategies to improve the intrinsic motivation of students. Growth mindset strategies have been reported to improve motivation and teach students to embrace failure (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Rhew, 2017; Yeager et al., 2016)

In order to create training programs and professional development opportunities that will help teachers implement classroom strategies that will increase student motivation, it is essential to explore the perceptions of the teachers. By understanding the issues that teachers experience and the strategies that are working, individuals can create better school-wide and district-wide systems to close achievement gaps. Improving the learning experience for all children will enable educational systems with the tools needed to decrease high school and college dropout rates and instill a growth mindset in students that will assist them not only during their academic years but throughout their careers. The purpose of this exploratory case study is to explore and investigate the perceptions, classroom strategies, and experiences of teachers in a Title I middle school regarding growth mindset practices in the classroom and its effect on the intrinsic motivation of the students.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The workforce has become very competitive. Postsecondary education is increasingly becoming a requirement of many careers (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2017). However, many students will not qualify for these careers because they are not pursuing postsecondary education or they are entering colleges but not obtaining their degrees. The ability to persevere through high school and postsecondary education are likely connected to the intrinsic motivation and mindset of the student (Brysacz, 2017). Nonetheless, teachers in Title I schools continue to face the challenge of increasing the motivation of middle school students (Heckman, 2009). The effectiveness of growth mindset strategies in the classroom is worth studying to find an effective way to increase intrinsic motivation (Bedford, 2017).

Despite the efforts that teachers put into encouraging the students to become self-reliant and intrinsically motivated, there is a problem in Title I middle schools. Many students do not graduate from high school or pursue postsecondary education. The lack of motivation seems to have more of an impact on students from low socioeconomic households, minority students, and special education students. Approximately 33% of those who drop out do so during or after the student's ninth grade year (Pharris-Ciurej, Hirschman, & Willhoft, 2012). The dropout rates of students who enter college but drop out before earning a degree are estimated to be more than 50% (Selingo, 2018).

Researchers have studied growth mindset strategies as a way of increasing the intrinsic motivation of students. While several studies exist that examine the impact of growth mindset interventions on student motivation, the studies have been specific to a particular content area such as reading or science (Antweil, n.d.; Árnason, 2006; Bedford, 2017). There have been

limited studies done with a focus on academic performance without regard to a specific subject. There has also been limited research done at the middle school level. Even less research has been done on intrinsic motivation in a Title I middle school. However, Auten (2013) conducted an intrinsic case study to investigate how educators could foster a growth mindset through instructional practices in order to increase student motivation in a community college setting. Strahan, Hansen, Meyer, Buchanan, and Doherty (2017) conducted an exploratory study with seventh-grade students using mindset interventions in a language arts classroom to prove that early adolescence was the optimal time for influencing mindset. The researchers used a mixed methods study that included that consisted of interviews, work samples, and observations.

Learning more about strategies that will increase intrinsic motivation will aid in improved risk-taking, academic performance, and self-efficacy. To effectively incorporate growth mindset strategies in the classroom, teachers must have an understanding of the power of mindset and have a growth mindset themselves (Dweck, 2010). Teachers must believe in their students' ability to learn. Extrinsic motivators are often used as a way to encourage students to perform certain tasks or reach a specific goal but create only a short-term desire to learn (Árnason, 2006). Having only short-term effects does not mean that extrinsic motivation is a bad thing. According to Antweil (n.d.), extrinsic motivators can be used to guide students toward increased intrinsic motivation.

This literature review will discuss the literature and prior research that focuses on growth mindset, motivation, self-efficacy, and teacher attitudes about the effectiveness of growth mindset practices. This study will further advance research on the intrinsic motivation of students in Title I middle schools and the connection to the growth mindset as well as other practices that can improve student's motivation.

Conceptual Framework

The Growth Mindset Theory

As indicated in chapter 1, the conceptual framework for this study is the growth mindset theory (Dweck, 2006). Research has indicated that the students' mindset influences their motivation. As instructional strategies are used to help students understand that their intelligence can increase it will motivate them and make them more eager to learn, thereby increasing their intelligence (Claro & Loeb, 2017). Dweck (2009) argues that students with a growth mindset will outperform those with a fixed mindset because students with a growth mindset are eager learners and want to cultivate their abilities.

The Growth Mindset Strategies

Teaching students about their brain and how it works is an excellent strategy to use when implementing growth mindset practices in the classroom because the idea that they can stretch their brain with each new learning experience is empowering (Dweck, 2009). Computer-based programs like Brainology have been developed to teach students about their brains. Praising students for their effort and not for their intelligence is another strategy used to promote a growth mindset. When educators praise students for their effort, it encourages them to continue to put forth effort even in the face of challenges (Dweck, 2009). Teaching students to add "yet" to anything they cannot do or find challenging gives them the confidence that they can improve (Dweck, 2014). Teaching students to take risks and embrace failure is another strategy that promotes a growth mindset. Sharma (2015) suggests that teachers must create an environment that will foster risk-taking is essential.

Mindset and Student Achievement

By changing the mindset of the students, educators can help build up students' intrinsic motivation leading to higher academic achievement and fewer dropouts. Yeager et al. (2016) found that by using growth mindset practices to reduce the percentage of ninth graders who earn failing averages, schools could prevent almost 100,000 high school dropouts in the U.S. per year. The growth mindset practices could also improve the learning behavior of students. Auten (2013) suggests that students with a fixed mindset have lower self-motivation and get more unsatisfactory grades making them more likely to drop out. The way students think about their ability to learn does, in fact, influence their ability to learn and their academic performance (Blazer, 2011).

Teacher Perceptions about Mindset

In education, research has shown that the mindset of the teacher and their attitude toward using growth mindset practices in their classrooms is just as important as the growth mindset of the students. Sparks (2013) suggests that the teachers' approach to instruction improves significantly when growth mindset strategies are utilized in the classroom. Schmidt et al. (2015) conducted a quantitative study using classroom observations and teacher reports to explore the outcomes of mindset interventions and found that program developers need to work to gain teacher buy-in for mindset interventions to have the most significant impact. It is crucial for teachers to recognize and embrace the importance of motivation in Title I middle school students (Ruiz, 2010). Once teachers understand the importance of motivation, they can begin working on strategies to improve motivation, which is where the growth mindset interventions come into play.

Mindset and Socioeconomic Status

Focusing on Title I schools is essential because most Title I schools have a large number of African American and Hispanic students. These students have historically performed lower than their peers academically (Snipes & Tran, 2017). Title I schools are schools that have at least 40% of their students from low-income families (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). The State Education Agency reported that the 2016–2017 enrollment of students identified as low income or economically disadvantaged were 75.6% Hispanic and 71.3% African American as opposed to less than 30% White or Asian. From this information, we can conclude that the majority of the students in Title I middle schools are African American or Hispanic.

Claro and Paunesku (2014) conducted a mixed method study and found that there is a significant disparity of mindset among SES groups, and that poorer students were more likely than their peers to have a fixed mindset. They further insist that despite the students' SES if they have a growth mindset, their academic achievement will improve because the mindset is a stronger predictor of success than SES. In an intervention study conducted by Goodall (2013), revealed that African American and Hispanic middle school students had higher academic performance when they were sent weekly emails about growth mindset (as cited in Dixson, Roberson, & Worrell, 2017). One can conclude from the results of these studies that with the proper interventions, the mindsets of students in Title I, middle schools can be transformed, resulting in an improvement in their motivation and academic performance.

The Theory of Motivation

Motivation is something that guides an individual's behavior toward a particular goal or task (Árnason, 2006). There are two types of motivation: intrinsic and extrinsic. Extrinsic motivation refers to rewards and other external systems that are created to encourage someone to

complete a task or reach a goal. Intrinsic motivation is the desire to complete a task or accomplishes a goal because it is enjoyable or satisfying to do so (Árnason, 2006). Motivation can be indicative of academic performance, self-efficacy, and academic achievement (Bedford, 2017).

One factor impacting the motivation of students is the mindset. According to Dweck (2015), the mindset of the student plays a vital role in the motivation and achievement of students, and by changing their mindset, we can boost their achievement. When discussing mindset, Dweck (2010) suggests that an individual will believe that intelligence is either static and cannot be changed (fixed mindset) or malleable and can grow (growth mindset). Growth mindset practices in the classroom can have a significant impact on the mindset of both teachers and students.

Review of Literature and Methodological Literature

This study was situated in the growth mindset theory and the theory of motivation.

Dweck (2009) explains the growth mindset theory as the idea that intelligence is not determined at the time of birth but can be improved upon through learning and effort. The theory of motivation is described by Bedford (2017) as the desire an individual has to complete a task whether driven by internal or external stimuli. The participants in this study understood these theories and the results of their interviews and focus group discussions will be reviewed here in relation to previous research.

The Growth Mindsets of Students

According to Dweck (2015), a student's mindset is instrumental in the effort they place on learning. They can either have a fixed mindset, thinking that their intelligence is static and cannot change or they can have a growth mindset understanding that their intelligence is

malleable and can increase with learning and new experiences. Dweck (2015) suggests that students' mindsets play an essential role in increasing their motivation and academic achievement. By changing their mindset, we can, therefore, improve their achievement. Black and Allen (2017) insist that the difference between students with a fixed mindset and students with a growth mindset is their attitude toward learning and putting forth the effort. A student with a fixed mindset will state that they are just not good at something while a student with a growth mindset will say I need to work on this (Black & Allen, 2017).

A growing number of studies demonstrate that students with growth mindsets put forth more effort in learning new concepts despite the difficulty they may face, which improves their academic performance (Strahan et al., 2017). Students with a growth mindset are also less likely to avoid challenges or exhibit behaviors like learned helplessness because of their belief that persistence and effort will increase their intelligence (Becker, 2012). In a quasi-experimental study using quantitive and qualitative methods, Bedford (2017) found that students in two science classes responded positively to growth mindset interventions. Class A went from 58% fixed mindset to 88% growth mindset. Class B went from 31% fixed mindset to 93% growth mindset. Dweck (2006) suggests that having a growth mindset carries with it many characteristics that are necessary for academic achievement and persistence, whereas, a fixed mindset can cause one to avoid challenges, be unwilling to put effort into learning, and cannot accept critical feedback impeding their improvement (Chase, 2010).

The current research on growth mindset shows that students with a growth mindset are more motivated to learn, put more effort into their work, faces difficulties with courage, and enjoy a higher academic performance when compared to students with a fixed mindset (Auten, 2013). In contrast to having a fixed mindset, learners who adopt a belief that intelligence is a

function of effort are referred to as having a growth mindset (Becker, 2012, pg. 24). Dweck (2009) states that mindsets affect motivation, receptiveness to learning, and level of achievement, which is essential in critical subject areas such as math and science (as cited in Strahan et al., 2017). The growth mindset, when modeled by the teacher, can increase student motivation and higher academic achievement (Dweck, 2009).

Mindset and Achievement

Academic achievement often aligns with a growth mindset. Many studies conducted in an effort to prove the amount of impact growth mindset practices and beliefs have on the academic performance of students (Baldridge, 2010; Chase, 2010; Claro & Loeb, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Dixson et al., 2017; Esparza, Shumow, & Schmidt, 2014; Fegley, 2010; Gutshall, 2013; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Nagle & Taylor, 2016; Snipes & Tran, 2017). Students who have a growth mindset have been shown to perform better than those who have a fixed mindset (Claro & Paunesku, 2014). Previous studies of middle school students have found that having a growth mindset is correlated with high achievement (Baldridge, 2010).

Through empirical studies, researchers have reported a connection between mindset and academic achievement. The concepts related to understanding an individuals mindset is linked to academic performance and course choice (Zakrajsek, 2017). Blackwell, Trzesniewski, & Dweck, (2007) longitudinal study of seventh graders established that an intelligence theory intervention not only proved to be a significant predictor of achievement within math classes but also turned out to be an accurate predictor of achievement throughout the two years of junior high school.

Claro and Loeb (2017) conducted an experimental study that offered evidence of growth mindset distribution regarding academic achievement and student demographics. Data revealed that students who are from low-income families, African American, and Hispanic students

reported a lower growth mindset than their peers. The data also showed that students with a growth mindset scored .07 and .04 standard deviations above their classmates with a fixed mindset but similar demographics (Claro & Loeb, 2017). In a mixed methods study conducted on Chilean students, Claro and Paunesku (2014) revealed that students with a growth mindset were 4.9 times more likely to score in the top achievement quintile than the bottom quintile. In contrast, students with a fixed mindset were 2.3 times more likely to score in the bottom achievement quintile than the top quintile.

Teacher's Perceptions about Growth Mindset

Teachers play an essential role in changing the mindsets of the students and the school as a whole. In order to impact the mindset of the students, the teachers must reflect on their mindset to determine whether it is a fixed or growth mindset. Árnason (2006) claims that for teachers to maximize the learning of students, there needs to be a change in the teachers' attitude about extrinsic motivation. The author further insists that extrinsic motivation creates only a short-term desire to learn. The learner only does the task before them because he wants the reward that comes from completing the task. Improving intrinsic motivation creates a learning environment where the completion of the task comes from a desire to learn more and is not driven by a reward system (Árnason, 2006).

Teachers must implement strategies that will increase intrinsic motivation to have a successful classroom. If schools are going to create a culture of a growth mindset and gain the benefits that come from having a growth mindset, the faculty must have a desire to adopt practices focused on growth mindset. Auten (2013) conducted an intrinsic case study that sought to address the high number of students who enter college but drop out before they complete their degree. The researcher chose to move away from the quantitative method utilized by many who

research growth versus fixed mindsets and instead utilize a qualitative study to more closely examine the perceptions and experiences of educators in a community college. The use of the intrinsic case study design offers the researcher the opportunity to gain insights they may not gain with other approaches (Rowley, 2003).

There were 14 teachers used for Auten's (2013) study. The researcher explains that this number was sufficient because the interviews were formal, and 14 participants would be enough to identify themes and shared ideas (Auten, 2013). The interviews took place after the teachers participated in a workshop about growth mindset. The data revealed that the educators realized the importance of tools and strategies that will help them create classroom environments that encourage a growth mindset (Auten, 2013). The results of the initial study led to the development of a project creating a 12-module professional development program for community college educators (Auten, 2013). While this study did focus on strategies to reduce dropout rates, the researchers looked at the dropout rates of community college students only. The study gave voice to educators by utilizing interviews to record their experiences and perceptions.

The primary determinant of the success of an intervention is the mindset of the person delivering the intervention (Bowman, 2011). Strosher (2003) conducted a quantitative comparative study assessing teachers' implicit theories of intelligence and efficacy beliefs. The researcher conducted a comparison analysis of preservice and practicing teachers; level taught sex, age, and years of experience. The sample consisted of 142 teachers, equally divided between preservice and practicing. The teachers completed three questionnaires: Beliefs About Students' Intelligence Scale (Fry, 1984), Beliefs About the Stability of Intelligence Questionnaire (Dweck

& Henderson, 1989), and Ohio State Teacher Efficacy Scale (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001).

The data revealed that there was no difference between preservice and practicing teachers' beliefs about the importance of cognitive reasoning. However, in a quantitative comparative design with the 142 teachers (71 practicing and 71 preservice), it was found that preservice teachers placed more importance on social norms than practicing teachers (Strosher, 2003). Since preservice teachers were still students, this may account for the importance they placed on social norms because they were coming from the perspective of a student (Strosher, 2003). There were no differences found between levels taught or the other characteristics used for comparison in this study. The researcher did find that there was a higher percentage of entity theorists, which refers individuals who view learning and an unchangeable characteristic, among practicing teachers (39%) than preservice teachers (13%) (Strosher, 2003).

Kiefer et al., (2015) explanatory mixed methods study sought to investigate student motivation, engagement, and feelings of belongingness of middle school students in grades 6-8 who attended a large urban school that was culturally and economically diverse. The researchers utilized a Likert scale type survey as well as conducted interviews with teachers, students, and administrators. The data revealed that half of the educators and more than one-fifth of the students felt that their teachers provided and fostered the appropriate support the students needed to be academically successful. Additionally, more than half of the student participant indicated that some of their teachers provided support and encouragement as it related to them completing the academic task (i.e., homework, projects) (Kiefer et al., 2015).

Furthermore, additional data revealed that there were more "divergent findings for teachers' structure as it relates to monitoring and expectations" (Kiefer et al., 2015, p13). For

example, the study revealed that students felt more comfortable at times with receiving emotional and academic support from their peers rather than their teachers. The data also revealed that students who acknowledged and embraced their academic weaknesses also were more likely to be successful academically. Additional findings revealed that teacher involvement and peer support strengthen a student's feelings of belongingness at the middle school level (Kiefer et al., 2015). However, the study also revealed that students perceived that at times, teachers monitored their academic progress excessively and felt that it was more of a form of control rather than supporting and encouraging.

While this study identifies some characteristics of a growth mindset, grit, and acknowledgment of one's weaknesses, it fails to explore the actual perceptions of middle school teachers specifically as it relates to how a student's growth mindset impacts their academic achievement. Additionally, this study takes place in a school that was culturally and economically diverse. In contrast, Title I Schools educate children that are socioeconomically disadvantaged (United States Department of Education, 2015).

Title I Teachers' Perceptions about Growth Mindset and Academic Achievement

Educational standards were changed in the mid-1990s to comply with the Title I funding requirements of helping schools with high percentages of low-income students be successful (EdSource, 2000). States were required to develop more rigorous standards and high-quality assessments that would be measured annually (EdSource, 2000). The more rigorous standards mean that teachers in Title I schools must find strategies that will improve student performance. Literature related to Title I teachers and their perceptions about the growth mindset was limited. However, the search for literature did reveal some research on the perceptions of Title I teachers

and their struggle to motivate the students they teach, which makes the current study all the more critical.

Herrera's (2010) exploratory study examined not only how teachers' perceptions influenced academic achievement, but also how external factors such as the people they associated with the outside of the classroom shaped the teachers' beliefs. The study took place in a high school located in the Midwestern part of the United States in which the majority of the students were African American. The data revealed that although 60% of the participating teachers had more than a bachelor's degree, not very many of their degree hours were spent on multicultural training. Despite this information, the teachers still reported feeling that they were adequately trained (Herrera, 2010). The significance of these findings is that since teacher perception influences student performance; thus, cultural sensitivity programs will be essential for transforming the mindset of teachers (Herrera, 2010).

In a correlational study of elementary schools in a Kentucky school district where 61% of the students were low-income, 281 teachers and 6,962 students were chosen as participants (Muñoz et al., 2013). The study consisted of two phases. Phase 1 was designed to identify more and less effective teachers. Phase two examined the perceptions about student achievement of more and less effective teachers. The data showed that the more effective teachers placed higher importance (52.5 %) than the less effective teachers on meeting the basic needs of the students so that their brains would be ready to learn (Muñoz et al., 2013). The implications of the data are that teacher preparation programs need to be aimed at strategies that will increase student performance (Muñoz et al., 2013). While the study did not focus on growth mindset and 51% of the district's students were Caucasian, the study still examined the perceptions of teachers who

teach low-income students (Muñoz et al., 2013). To be eligible for Title I funds, schools must be at least 40% low SES.

Jensen (2014) took a slightly different angle by using a quasi-experimental research design to test the hypothesis that there will be a difference in teacher beliefs, attitudes, or actions between teachers at a high performing and low performing Title I schools. A group of teachers from low performing schools (149 teachers) and a group of high performing schools (108 teachers) completed a four-part online Likert-type scale survey. Findings revealed that 28 teachers from the high-achieving schools and 31 teachers from the low-achieving schools agreed that effective teaching strategies are crucial for the academic success of the students including methods that will increase the students' academic capabilities. Jensen (2014) concluded from the data that it is teacher efficacy that plays a most significant role in closing academic gaps. While this survey did not focus on mindset, the teachers at both schools held similar beliefs that their efforts would improve the students' academic abilities, which are a growth mindset point of view.

Review of Methodological Issues

An examination of the literature reviewed for this study reveals several issues surrounding the current research on growth mindset and motivation. As motivation becomes a more popular topic of interest, researchers have investigated the factors that contribute to low motivation and interventions that can improve motivation, including growth mindset interventions. The potential issues found while examining prior research include issues of research design, replication, reliability, generalizability, selection of participants, ethical protection of participants, and assessment instruments.

Research Design

The research designs used in the literature studied varied and included mixed methods, experimental, action research, collaborative, and correlational designs. There are benefits and potential issues with any design that is chosen to conduct research. One point of interest is the lack of the use of control groups in the majority of the literature reviewed.

On a study conducted by Auten (2013), using an intrinsic case-study design, the participants were allowed to aid in the interpretation of the data. Allowing participants to aid in the interpretation of the data is an issue because one could question the reliability of the results. Reliability refers to other researchers being able to duplicate the data collection process and arrive at the same results (Baskarada, 2014). If the participants are allowed to assist with the interpretation of the data, the results could potentially skew the data toward their desired outcome. Also, Willis (2014) argues that the issue of researcher subjectivity is a valid one. Willis's point is not to say that researchers cannot be objective, but there would need to be measures taken to reduce the question of researcher bias.

Strahan et al. (2017) also conducted a study using a similar collaborative style of data collection and interpretation. The design has the benefit of collaboration, which enhances participation, but the potential issue is that the data may not be as objective as it would if the data were collected and analyzed by an outside party.

Elman and Kapiszewski (2017) note that sharing information with other scholars that can analyze and review the data adds value and credibility to the data. Willis (2014) suggests that one of the most common critiques of single case studies is the external validity, reliability, and generalizability of the study. Since case studies focus on a particular case, the results from that particular case cannot apply to other cases. The construct validity can come into question

because one could argue that the study was designed around the desired results instead of designing a study that would yield valid data. An outside party may appear more objective. Having an outside party does not mean that the researchers cannot collaborate and still be objective, but some researchers express concern about objectivity because of the lack of guidelines surrounding case studies (Willis, 2014).

Snipes and Tran (2017) explained that the data for their study was self-reported, and there was a low response rate. There are two issues: first, a researcher can present self-reported data in any way the researcher wants to ensure they arrive at the desired outcome and secondly, a low response rate can leave the researcher without enough data from which to draw accurate results. A low response rate can carry the same threats to validity as having a sample size that is too small. Also, with a low response rate, the sample size may not include enough individuals to be representative of the population that is the focus on the study (Creswell, 2014). Faber and Fonseca (2014) suggest that the smaller the sample size, the farther the researcher is getting away from the population, which undermines the internal and external validity of a study. Samples sizes that are too small can make it difficult to identify differences that would be easier to detect in larger samples. Hackshaw (2008) insists that there is nothing wrong with a small sample size if it is well-designed, justified, and there is a careful interpretation of the data. Small studies can be convenient for providing quick results but do not typically yield reliable results (Hackshaw, 2008).

Replication

Replication refers to the ability to repeat a study with different situations and subjects to see if the findings from the original study apply to situations other than those of the original study (Cherry, 2017). Another scenario would be to repeat the study with the same or a similar

situation to further prove the validity of the original findings. Cherry (2017) suggests that if an individual can replicate the results of a study, it means that the individual can generalize the results to a larger population. Barnes and Fives (2016) conducted a naturalistic case study to identify the processes used by one teacher who uses growth-focused assessments to enhance the growth mindset of the students. The researcher used the data collected through observations, interviews, and work samples to align the results from the data collected to the literature on growth mindset practices in order to provide educators with suggestions for using growth-focused assessments in their classrooms (Barnes & Fives, 2016). The replicability issues with this case study rest on the fact that the sample in this study consisted of only one teacher with experience in creating growth-focused assessments (Barnes & Fives, 2016). As with most case studies this study is specific to the person the researcher chose as the focus of the study so it may be challenging to replicate thereby limiting the generalizability of the claims made by the researcher (McLeod, 2008).

Reliability

Reliability is concerned with the consistency of a study across different researchers and projects (Creswell, 2013). Like replication, one should expect variability when assessing the reliability of qualitative research and is acceptable as long as the methodology and the logistics consistently yield results that are similar and vary only in richness and ambiance (Leung, 2015). Nagle and Taylor (2016) conducted a self-study on the use of personal learning frameworks and their effects on the growth mindset and academic achievement of the students. Laerd.com (n.d.) would refer to the threat to reliability here as researcher error because the researcher may not be able to remove personal bias from the data collection process due to prior experiences or desired outcomes.

Generalizability

Generalizability is a crucial criticism in qualitative research due to the specific nature of the phenomenon the researcher chooses to study. Leung (2015) insist that generalizability is not usually an expected attribute of qualitative research because qualitative studies are meant to study specific situations, populations, ethnic groups, or conditions (Leung, 2015). Claro and Paunesku (2014) conducted a mixed method study examining the mindset gap between SES groups. The results cannot necessarily be generalizable toward American students because the participants in the study were Chilean. There could be factors or issues experienced by the Chilean students that would not be experienced by some other ethnic group. The results of the study that there is a mindset gap between SES groups can lead to further research using students from other ethnic groups. Dixson et al. (2017) also conducted a mixed method study examining the relationship between academic achievement and psychosocial influences. The participants in the study were high, achieving African American students. The results could not apply to all African American students because of the specific nature of the participant selection and also could not apply to low achieving students.

Selection of Participants

The participant selection in some research can be an issue because the studies focus on limited demographics or characteristics which could pose a threat to the validity of the results when applied to other demographics that differ from the ones used in the studies. The participants selected for a study should be representative of the population of the site where the study will take place.

Another issue is in choosing participants that already exhibit the behavior the researcher is studying. Dixson et al. (2017) conducted a study examining the connection between the

mindset and academic achievement of African American students, but the participants chosen were already high, achieving students. There was no representation of students with academic deficits of students with disabilities. The fact that the results of the study showed no significant connection between mindset, grit, and academic achievement could be because the students were already highly motivated to learn which influenced the way they answered the survey questions. Similarly, Seaton (2017) selected participants for a study on motivation by asking for volunteers. Those who were willing to volunteer for the study were more than likely already highly motivated.

Having a wide range of characteristics among the respondents can be an issue. Gutshall (2013) conducted a quantitative correlational study examining teachers' mindset of students with and without disabilities. The researcher presented teachers with questions about mindset then presented them with scenarios about a student with or without learning disabilities. Results suggest that in the comparison of teachers' mindset when presented with mindset scenarios versus when filling out a mindset survey, teachers had more of a neutral mindset (from 11.8% to 17.6%), less of a fixed mindset (from 25.6% to 17.6%) and very little change in growth mindset (from 62.6% to 67.6%) when presented with mindset scenarios as opposed to being asked questions about mindset (Gutshall, 2013).

The issue is that the number of teaching years of the respondents ranged from one to 40 years. New teachers would have a very different mindset than veteran teachers because they have yet to experience teaching. It would be difficult to determine if the causes of a fixed or growth mindset were due to the training of the new teachers or the perceptions of those who had taught for many years. Strosher (2003) conducted a quantitative comparative study to determine if there was a difference between preservice and practicing teachers and elementary and secondary level

teachers about their beliefs about intelligence. The participants of the study included 71 practicing and 71 preservice teachers. Strosher (2003) found that there was no significant difference between elementary and secondary levels taught, but that there is a significant difference between practicing and preservice teachers. Although 73.6 % of the teachers believe that intelligence can change, of those that feel that intelligence is static, 25 of them were practicing teachers, and nine were preservice (Strosher, 2003). Strosher (2003) concluded that experience is a significant factor in beliefs about intelligence and teacher self-efficacy.

Ethical Protection of Participants

Dealing with human or animal subjects comes with the great responsibility of protecting those subjects from harm. The more sensitive the nature of the study, the higher the risk to the participants. Ross, Iguchi, and Panicker (2018) point out that the three fundamental principles of ethics are respect of persons, beneficence, and justice. Respect of persons requires recognizing the rights of the individuals. Beneficence refers to the researcher's responsibility to not only protect the participant from harm but also to maximize the potential benefit of their participation in the study (Ross et al., 2018). Justice addresses the equal distribution of benefits and risks of research on human participants (Ross et al., 2018).

To ensure that the appropriate protections are in place for all humans and animals chose to participate in a study, educational institutions use the Institutional Review Board (IRB) committees (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Marshall and Rossman (2016) insist that trustworthiness is an essential criterion of proper research that the researcher should consider during the proposal stage. Ross et al. (2018) discuss the potential issue with ethics in an age where data sharing is an essential focus in organizations. It is vital to keep the rights and the privacy of the participants' safe in the process of sharing the data and results with others.

Pseudonyms or numbers used to identify the participants would help protect the participants. When surveying students, there are whole other sets of criteria to deal with, such as obtaining parent, school, and school district consent. The current study will examine teacher perception, which will not require parental consent.

Assessment Instruments

The issue with some assessment methods is the inconsistency of the administration of the method. Some researchers create assessments with wording that makes it easy for the respondent to determine what answer the researcher wants. In some studies, the posttest is different from the pretest.

Assessments tools have the potential to influence the data. Developing biased assessment tools happens when companies are trying to convince others to purchase their programs or services, or researchers are trying to prove a point. Baldridge, in his (2010) study identified the limitations of the survey instrument as it relates to the participant's responses. Baldridge (2010) identified that it was possible that the participants may have not truthfully answered the questions, but instead responded to the survey questions based on what they felt he wanted their answers to be, which in essence would have skewed the data. In this case, the researcher may not have intentionally misused the assessment tool, but the instrument may have still caused an issue for the researcher due to what Farnsworth (2016) refers to as participant bias. Sometimes participants will answer interview or survey questions based on what they think the researcher wants to hear. Answering questions in a way that the participants think will please the researcher may be conscious or subconscious, but by reassuring the participant that their answers will be confidential which will help them feel more comfortable answering questions honestly thereby reducing the threat (Farnsworth, 2016).

With an assessment tool, there is always the potential issue of history and testing threats. Zakrajsek (2017) used a control group design to test the effects of read-aloud interventions on the growth mindset of students. One hundred fourteen fifth and sixth graders participated in six intervention sessions about growth mindset. They were given a pretest before the session and a posttest after the session. Ninety-three percent of the students were people of color, and 68% received free and reduced lunch (Zakrajsek, 2017). The researcher found that the read-aloud interventions did not increase the growth mindsets of the students.

Although the results were not what the researcher anticipated, the study is still significant because of its focus on middle schools, students of color, and students from low SES families. Title I schools have similar characteristics among students of color and low SES, and the current study will focus on a middle school with similar demographics. The researcher describes the history effect in this study as the already present eagerness of the students to learn (Zakrajsek, 2017). If the growth mindsets of the students were already high, the interventions would have had little effect on them. Testing effects often occur when there are pretests and posttests administered because the questions on the pretest can influence a participant's behavior and answers to the posttest (Laerd.com, n.d.).

Synthesis of Research Findings

Much of the research on growth mindset focuses on strategies and interventions and their effects on student motivation, beliefs about intelligence, academic achievement, and teacher attitude. Having a fixed mindset causes students to avoid risk-taking and are less interested in learning (Blazer, 2011; Davis, 2017; Dweck, 2009; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Snipes & Tran, 2017;). Students with a growth mindset tend to learn more because they see the benefit of learning (Brysacz, 2017; Claro & Loeb, 2017; O'Brien, Fielding-Wells, Makar, & Hillman, 2015;

Strahan et al., 2017). Having a growth mindset will increase students' academic performance (Blazer, 2011; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Fegley, 2010; Schmidt et al., 2015; Zakrajsek, 2017), increase the intrinsic motivation of the students (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Black & Allen, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Dweck, 2009; Dweck, 2010; Dweck, 2015; Gutshall, 2013; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Seaton, 2017), improve their self-efficacy (Árnason, 2006; Baldridge, 2010), and increase the effort the students put into their learning.

Student motivation is a serious issue. The United States Deputy Secretary reported in 2011 that over a million students drop out of high school every year (Miller, 2011). Of the students who manage to graduate from high school and enter college, 59% of them go on to earn their degree (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017). Students that do not have self-efficacy or intrinsic motivation have a difficult time staying focused and embracing learning (Árnason, 2006; Bedford, 2017; Gutshall, 2013; Rhew, 2017). For this reason, strategies and interventions that can improve intrinsic motivation are necessary (Antweil, n.d.; Árnason, 2006; Auten, 2013; Chase, 2010; Dweck, 2009; Dweck, 2010; Hanson, Bangert, & Ruff, 2016; Kiefer et al., 2015; O'Brien et al., 2015; Ruiz, 2010; Schmidt et al., 2015; Seaton, 2017; Sparks, 2013). Studies have proven that growth mindset strategies can improve student motivation, self-efficacy, eagerness to learn, and academic achievement (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Black & Allen, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Gutshall, 2013; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Seaton, 2017).

Another factor influencing student motivation is the student's belief about their intelligence. Students' beliefs about their intelligence influence their attitude about learning and their academic achievement (Baldridge, 2010; Blazer, 2011; Claro & Loeb, 2017; Rhew, 2017). If a student has no interest in learning, it is difficult for that student to maintain enough

motivation to complete high school or college (Auten, 2013; Brysacz, 2017; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015). Mindset practices increase motivation (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Black & Allen, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Gutshall, 2013; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Seaton, 2017) and builds perseverance (Schmidt et al., 2015). Dweck (2009) emphasizes that when students are eager to learn, they seek out opportunities for learning and growth. This desire to learn extends beyond high school and college, creating lifelong learners (Árnason, 2006).

Academic achievement is also influenced by mindset (Blazer, 2011; Bowman, 2011; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Robinson, 2017; Schmidt et al., 2015; Zakrajsek, 2017). Since growth mindset creates an eagerness to learn (Claro & Loeb, 2017; Dweck, 2009) and improves students' risk-taking abilities (Dweck, 2015; Hayward, 2015), academic achievement also improves. Dweck (2015) also emphasizes that the growth mindset is not be related to ones' level of ability but about effort and seeking improvement. Academic achievement is not due to ones' innate ability but instead due to the effort that one puts forth (Fegley, 2010).

Changing the mindset of the students begin with changing the culture of the school (Bowman, 2011; Davis & Forbes, 2016). Dweck, 2010; Hall, 2013; Hanson, Bangert, & Ruff, 2016; Hayward, 2015; Rathunde & Csikszentmihalyi, 2005; Robinson, 2017) as well as the mindset of the teachers (Dweck, 2010; Fegley, 2010; Gutshall, 2013; Gutshall, 2014; Hanson et al., 2016; Kiefer et al., 2015; Seaton, 2017). Interventions can be used to promote the growth mindset of the students. Some interventions such as read-aloud are not as effective for creating increased student motivation (Antweil, n.d.; Zakrajsek, 2017) but other interventions such as Brainology has shown promising results (Baldridge, 2010; Bedford, 2017; Esparza et al., 2014; Rhew, 2017; Schmidt et al., 2015). Dweck (2010) insists that the mindset of the teacher influences classroom practices, which in turn influence the mindset of the students.

An analysis of the findings of these studies suggests the importance of growth mindset and its influence on the performance of students whether it be athletic performance (Chase, 2010), musical performance (Davis, 2017), or academic performance. In classrooms that use growth mindset practices, students have shown improvement in their academic performance (Bedford, 2017; Dweck, 2009). In conclusion, there is a direct relation between growth mindset practices in the classroom and the improved growth mindset of students. Research is plentiful on student motivation and growth mindset as it pertains to elementary, high school, or college students. However, case study research is more difficult to find than quantitative research that focuses on Title I middle school students which makes a qualitative case study imperative to gain a deeper understanding of the issues faced by teachers in Title I middle schools. Claro and Paunesku (2014) argue that students from low SES backgrounds are more likely to have a fixed mindset. Data that includes the perception of teachers in Title I middle schools who use growth mindset practices could potentially improve those practices throughout the school district. Accurately implementing the practices would increase the academic performance of the students in middle school, high school, and beyond, ultimately reducing the number of students who are dropping out of high school or college.

Critique of Previous Research

Although most of the literature reviewed addressed the necessity of the transformation of mindset in students, teachers, and schools, several differences exist. One difference worth noting is that while the growth mindset was the basis of many studies, the researchers focused on different people or different areas. Auten (2013) and Brysacz (2017) focused on growth mindset interventions and their effects on college students. They did not attempt to explain what their mindset was before they made it to college or when their mindset neither changed nor did the

study focus on interventions that would improve the students' mindsets before they get to college. These studies focused more on how to transform the growth mindsets of these college students to help them complete their degree.

Baldridge (2010) and Strahan et al. (2017) studied the growth mindset but focused on reading or language art classrooms, leaving a void in the research related to other content areas. Bedford (2017) and Esparza et al. (2014) used surveys and questionnaires to study the effects of growth mindset interventions on students' performance in science classrooms. O'Brien et al. (2015) and Tidd (2016) studied the effects of the use of growth mindset practices in mathematics classrooms. Some of the literature reviewed, such as Baldridge (2010), and Rhew (2017) focused on special education and learning-disabled students when examining the effects of growth mindset interventions. Except for the study by O'Brien et al. (2015), all these studies were quantitative. These studies provide useful information about growth mindset interventions and their effects on students, but they fail to take the perceptions of the teachers' or students into account. A case study that provides an in-depth investigation of the perceptions of teachers would be critical to understanding the needs of educators' regarding changing the mindsets of the students.

Becker (2012) used a mixed methods study to examine the students' beliefs about intelligence in an AVID classroom and found that the students in AVID classes have more of a growth mindset than students not in AVID. The study also collected quantitative data which was categorized by the number of years a student had been in AVID. When asked a question about their ability to change their intelligence, the AVID students had a mean score of 3.83, which was higher than the mean score of 3.65 for non-AIVD students. The results show that AVID students display more of a growth mindset than non-AVID students.

Other researchers focused on academic achievement. Claro and Paunesku (2014) used a combination of surveys, census data, and standardized scores in a mixed methods study to examine mindset gaps among students of different socioeconomic backgrounds. They found that only 23% of the students studied have a growth mindset and that there was a significant gap in the mindsets between schools that have low and high percentages of students of low SES.

Schools with poorer students tended to have a more fixed mindset than schools with a higher SES.

Finally, instead of focusing on student perception or achievement, some researchers focused on teacher perception or school culture. Dweck (2010) insists that for teachers to create an environment that promoted a growth mindset, they must have a growth mindset themselves. She further notes the importance of transforming the mindset of African American and Hispanic students because it will improve their academic performance and create more equity between them and their non-stereotyped peers. Hall (2013) claims that the four ways to build a growth mindset culture in schools are "observation, dialog, feedback, and investment." Gutshall (2014) conducted a quantitative study of 113 preservice teachers at the beginning and the end of an education program to determine their growth mindset. The results showed that there was a significant difference between the teachers presented with hypothetical scenarios (62.5%) and the teachers with some clinical experience (82.8%). While this study examined the mindset of preservice teachers by presenting them with hypothetical scenarios (Gutshall, 2013) it failed to examine why the participant's responses varied and how the teachers view influenced the mindsets of the students. A case study would extend this research to gather a more in-depth understanding of the factors contributing to the mindsets of the teachers and ways to change their mindset before they begin practicing.

Chapter 2 Summary

The review of the literature for this study revealed several themes, gaps, and deficiencies. One of the central themes found in the literature review is that schools must develop a growth mindset culture in order to transform the mindset of the students and teachers from a fixed to a growth mindset. There is little research on transforming school cultures from fixed to growth mindsets. Teachers in Title I schools work tirelessly to find ways to motivate their students to embrace learning, appreciate errors, take risks, and improve their academic performance. Therefore, a case study of the teachers' perceptions of growth mindset interventions in the classroom regarding increasing student motivation is an important starting point.

Another central theme found in the review of the literature is that teachers' perceptions of student ability and classroom practices can significantly influence the mindsets of the students and their belief in their abilities. In Title I schools, the perception of the teachers may change due to the challenges they face when trying to close achievement gaps (Claro & Paunesku, 2014). These themes justify conducting the current study in that they emphasize the need to investigate and understand the teachers' perceptions when using growth mindset practices in the classroom and the effect that those perceptions have on the students' perceptions of themselves.

The review of the literature for this chapter also included rationales for the use of growth mindset practices in music programs, sports programs, and classrooms (Chase, 2010; Davis, 2017). Students' beliefs in their abilities influence how they see opportunities for learning and risk-taking. Inside and outside of the classroom, students must understand that their talents and intelligence are not static and can increase with effort. Having a growth mindset in one area will affect the students' mindsets in other areas. Since growth mindset is concerned with the beliefs an individual has in their abilities, it is important for students' mindset to shift from fixed to

growth to help the way they look at learning and the development of their abilities (Dweck, 2009).

A further review of the literature revealed themes that identify that students who have a growth mindset have the higher academic achievement, a greater self-efficacy, and the motivation to persevere through high school and college (Baldridge, 2010; Blazer, 2011; Claro & Loeb, 2017; Rhew, 2017). Closing the achievement gap is an essential task for Title I middle schools. However, providing these students with the necessary tools to succeed in high school and beyond is equally essential. Improving the growth mindset of the students will not only affect their academic achievement but will also provide them with the motivation and self-efficacy to push themselves beyond their perceived limits. Moreover, perceptions of growth mindset practices and its effect on the intrinsic motivation of the students will also serve as a basis for the development of teacher training programs by providing an insight into the current mindset of educators and what needs should be addressed in order to change the thought processes that do not align with the growth mindset theory.

This chapter concluded with a discussion of methodologies used regarding the Similarities and differences of the literature to the case study design of the current research. The majority of the studies reviewed for this research were mixed methods or quantitative, although some of the articles reviewed were qualitative. The review of these methodologies indicated that the majority of students of color and students from low SES backgrounds have more of a fixed mindset than students of other ethnicities and more affluent backgrounds (Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Dixson et al., 2017). The review of the studies also revealed that preservice teachers have the desire to have a growth mindset about their students' abilities (Gutshall, 2014; Strosher, 2003). Their mindsets can be affected by experiences that come from the actual time spent in the

classroom. Along these lines, the review of studies also revealed that teachers of special education students tend to have a more fixed mindset about their student's abilities and level of intelligence (Baldridge, 2010; Rhew, 2017).

Thus, the range of methodologies found in the literature about growth mindset indicates that case study research related to teachers' perceptions of growth mindset practices in the classroom has applicability for helping schools and school districts seeking to provide professional development and training opportunities to educators who teach in Title I middle schools. This type of research may also provide educators with a better understanding of how their beliefs about the students' abilities affect their classroom practices and therefore affects their students' beliefs in their abilities. This study may motivate educators to take more ownership in shaping the mindset of the students by implementing more effective practices in their classrooms that will increase the growth mindset of the students and the teachers.

Chapter 3: Methodology

Introduction

To gain a more in-depth understanding of the teachers' perceptions of the effects of growth mindset practices on the students' intrinsic motivation, the design of the study needs to be one that takes an in-depth look at a single case. Creswell (2015) describes a case study as an in-depth exploration of a process or event. Zainal (2007) describes an exploratory case study as one in which the researcher seeks to explore a particular phenomenon that is a point of interest to the researcher. Murphy (2014) suggests that researchers use case studies to gain ideas that will lead to more extensive research. Furthermore, case study research is best for capturing the current reality and Perce of the participants (Murphy, 2014).

While there is a vast amount of literature related to growth mindset and student motivation, the research literature on Title I middle schools and the perceptions of the teachers who work in those school is limited (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Black & Allen, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Gutshall, 2013; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Rhew, 2017; Seaton, 2017). This study sought to close some of the gaps in previous research by investigating the perceptions of middle school teachers in a Title I school of the effects of growth mindset practices in the classroom on student motivation through a qualitative exploratory case study. This chapter will discuss the purpose of the study, the population and sampling method, data collection, and analysis procedures. In closing, the chapter will also discuss the limitations of the study, the potential ethical issues, and the expected findings of the study.

Purpose of the Study

Despite the efforts that teachers put into encouraging the students to become self-reliant and intrinsically motivated, there are still a large number of students that leave middle school but

do not graduate high school or pursue postsecondary education. This problem has negatively impacted students from low socioeconomic households, minority students, and special education students more than their peers (Becker & Luthar, 2002). There has been a scarcity of research conducted examining Title I middle school teacher's perceptions as it relates to how a student's growth mindset may impact a student's academic performance.

The purpose of this study was to explore teachers' perception of growth mindset strategies and its impact on the intrinsic motivation of students in a Title I middle school. By intrinsic motivation, the researcher is referring to the ability of the student to complete tasks, embrace learning, and take risks outside of the presence of extrinsic motivators such as prizes rewards, or punishment.

Research Question

How do the perceptions of Title I middle school teachers as it relates to the use of growth mindset strategies in the classroom impact the intrinsic motivation of students?

Research Approach and Design

This study examined the perceptions of teachers in a Title I middle school regarding growth mindset practices and student motivation. To gain a better understanding of the effects of the growth mindset on the intrinsic motivation of students, I utilized an exploratory case study approach. Zainal (2007) notes that case studies explore real-life phenomenon enabling a researcher to examine data within a specified context. The use of exploratory case studies is to explore a particular event in order to encourage further examination of the event (Zainal, 2007). Baxter and Jack (2008) note that qualitative case studies allow the researcher to explore a particular phenomenon using a variety of data sources. Case studies are useful because they can

explore the simple or complex phenomenon and are ideal for answering questions of "how" and "why" (Baxter & Jack, 2008).

The literature reviewed for this study consisted of mainly mixed method designs. However, several of the researchers included open-ended questionnaires, journaling, and interviews as tools in their mixed methods study. Auten (2013) conducted a qualitative study examining the desire and need for training on growth mindset practices in the classroom to reduce the number of students dropping out before completing community college. The researcher used observations and in-depth interviews as tools in this study. In similar studies, Fegley (2010) conducted a study involving students and staff using surveys and interviews, and Hanson et al. (2016) conducted a study involving teachers using surveys and questionnaires. Although both studies employed interviews, surveys, and questionnaires, the data were analyzed using a quantitative approach.

In much of the literature reviewed for this study, many of the researchers used surveys, interviews, and open-ended questionnaires. The difference between those studies and the current study is that other researchers used quantitative methods to analyze the data in those studies. The current study used interviews and focus groups to gather as much in-depth data as possible, without having to take the time out of the classroom to do observations. If a participant in the focus group was not comfortable answering the questions out loud, they had the option to complete the focus group questions as an open-ended questionnaire. Also, the current study did not use quantitative methods to analyze the data. The purpose of this study was not to obtain quantitative statistics but to gain an understanding of the perceptions of teachers in a Title I middle school regarding student motivation and growth mindset practices in the classroom. By better understanding, the perceptions of the teachers, the research could aid in the development

of training and programs that will better prepare teachers to move away from extrinsic motivators while improving the intrinsic motivation of the students.

Role of the Researcher

In qualitative research, the role of the researcher is to determine the feelings and perceptions of the participants in the study (Sutton & Austin, 2015). Simon (2011) suggests that the role of a qualitative researcher is either emic (an insider) or etic (an outsider) but can also be somewhere in between the two starting as one and ending as the other. While the study took place in a district I am professionally associated with, my role was etic because I was not a participant but an observer. In qualitative research, the researcher is an instrument (Barrett, 2007). Based on this idea, I was the primary instrument for the current study. Acting as the primary instrument in the study could create the potential for researcher bias. Therefore systems must be in place to ensure the identification and reflection of potential biases to avoid the biases influence on the study.

As the primary instrument, I was responsible for collecting and analyzing the data. Fischer (2009) describes the concept of identifying personal experiences, factors, or assumptions that could affect how a researcher interprets their data as bracketing. Bracketing helped me avoid or minimize the potential bias because I did it continuously throughout the study. Fischer (2009) insists that bracketing in a continuous reflective manner can be a useful tool for the researcher by revealing a lot about themselves and their biases. To better understand the teacher's perceptions, I first identified my attitudes and beliefs about growth mindset practices and student motivation. The following biases were bracketed and reflected upon throughout this study:

1. The mindset of the students is a reflection of the mindset of the teacher. If the teacher cared more or used the best practices, the students would be more eager to learn.

- 2. Teachers do not challenge students enough and will lower their expectations if the students act as though they cannot rise to the challenges.
- 3. Every student can transform, and every student's mindset can be changed if the school and classroom cultures were set up in a way to promote growth mindsets.
- 4. School culture is the cornerstone of the learning environment followed by the classroom culture, teacher mindset, and ultimately, student mindset.
- 5. The research will take place in the district where I have professonal associations, so my belief is that every teacher is doing what is necessary to improve the mindset and learning experiences of every student.

Creswell (2013) suggests that clarification of researcher biases is important for the reader to understand where the researcher is coming from and how the experiences and biases of the researcher could potentially shape the results of the data. Because I am a teacher in a Title I middle school, I had to reflect on my biases throughout the study and especially during the analysis of the data to identify any personal beliefs that may limit my subjectivity. For this study, I identified and isolated my personal beliefs and biases, which come from my years as a teacher in a Title I middle school and my personal experiences with students who did not make it past the ninth grade. Reflective bracketing allowed me to determine whether or not my biases influence the interviews or focus groups used for this study.

Wall, Glenn, Mitchinson, and Poole (2004) suggest that keeping a reflective bracketing diary will help to prepare me for each stage of data collection mentally. Therefore, I kept a journal that helped me reflect and identify my personal beliefs, experiences, and biases. I also ensured that my informed consent included the fact that I am a teacher in a Title I middle school and that I do use growth mindset practices in my classroom.

The Context of the Study

Setting

The school selected for this study is part of a midsized school district. The pseudonyms used for the school district and middle school in this study were Love School District and Peace Middle School. The district has 18 middle schools. Of those 18 middle schools, 12 of them have a Title I designation. The Title I school chosen for this study, Peace Middle School, employs 52 teachers, three counselors, three assistant principals, one principal, and other employees including food service staff, office staff, instructional coaches, parent support specialists, librarians, Communities in School (CIS) workers, and nurses. Of the 52 teachers in Peace Middle School, 32 of the teachers are female, and 20 are male.

There is also an English Language Development Academy (ELDA) in the school which serves students who range from being new to the country to be in the country for three years.

These students come from a variety of countries and speak a variety of languages. The teachers in ELDA develop lessons that not only teach them the grade level content but also teach them academic and social English.

Peace Middle School serves 650 students consisting of 87% Hispanic, 8% African American, 3% White, and 2% American Indian, Asian, or two or more races (District Website, 2018). Over 95% of the students qualify for free or reduced lunch (District Website, 2018). The neighborhoods that surround the school contain drug and gang activity, which makes its way into the school during each school year. According to the city's crime statistics, the neighborhood ranks ninth out of 41 zip codes for the most crimes committed in 2017. The teachers vary in length of employment; time spent in a Title I school, and teaching experience. The school has

had three professional development sessions on growth mindset, and most are implementing the strategies learned in their classroom.

Invitation to Participate

Before beginning this study, I contacted the External Research Department of the school district to acquire the appropriate applications required to conduct interviews and focus groups (or open-ended questionnaire) within the school district. The school district chosen for this study is due to the following reasons: (a) I have worked in this school district for seven years and therefore understand the common goals of the district which enhances my desire to find ways to help the district achieve these goals and (b) the experiences of being in the classroom at the same school for the last seven years and having firsthand knowledge of the issues of working with students in a Title I school has given me the desire to better understand the mindset and motivation phenomena in order to help other teachers and schools in the district that face the same issues.

Once the school district and the IRB at Concordia University–Portland approved my research, I sent an email to the principal of Peace Middle School requesting permission to send an invitational email out to the teachers of the school. The faculty received notification of the criteria for selection as a participant, including the requirement that they are actively using growth mindset practices in their classrooms. The teachers received an informed consent form and offered a chance to participate in the pre-interview, post-interview, and focus group. The letter that the researcher sent by email included the purpose of the study, the time requirements of participating in the study, the incentives for participation, and contact information if there are further questions about the study.

Once I received the approval to send the invitation email from the principal, and I received responses from interested teachers who met the criteria, I made face-to-face contact with each teacher giving them more detail on the time frames and requirements of the interviews and focused groups (or open-ended questionnaire). During this face-to-face contact, I gave each potential participant a letter outlining the measures taken to ensure their privacy and had them sign a consent form which included more detail of the study's purpose and significance, what was required of each participant, consent to record the interviews, and the role I played in the collection and analysis of the data. Included in the appendix section of the final research document is a copy of the consent form and invitation letter.

Selection of Participants

The participants for this exploratory case study consisted of six teachers from Peace Middle School. This sample included teachers (male or female) from each of the three grade levels (6–8). According to Creswell (2015), purposeful sampling refers to selecting participants for a study that can best help you understand the phenomena you are studying. The type of purposeful sampling, more specifically criterion sampling is best for case study research because the participants selected to fit a specific criterion including the fact that they have experienced the phenomena that makes up the focus of the study (Creswell, 2013).

The criteria used for participant selection in this study were: Teachers must (a) teaches sixth, seventh, or eighth grade; (b) teach in the Title I middle school where the study would take place; and (c) use growth mindset strategies in their classroom. The assumption was that all participants were implementing growth mindset practices in their classrooms based on the series of training received during the 2017 school year. Of all the interested participants, the six teachers who fit the criteria were invited to participate in the study.

According to Creswell (2015), the sample size for qualitative studies should be small because of the nature of case studies and the need to collect more in-depth data than what quantitative studies require. Dworkin (2012) suggests that the sample size of qualitative research is smaller because these studies are more focused on the how and why of an issue and therefore require a smaller, more in-depth study. Guest, Bunce, and Johnson (2006) suggest as little as six participants are needed for data saturation when conducting qualitative research. Funch and Ness (2016) identified that data saturation is not necessarily about the number of participants, but about the "depth of the data" (p. 1409). Finally, according to Dibley (2011) and Burmesiter and Aitken (2012), it is more important to think of data in terms of rich and thick rather than the size of the sample. With this in mind, a sample size of six participants was an adequate representation of the experiences and attitudes of the staff regarding the growth mindset and student motivation.

Data Collection Instruments

Interview Protocol

Jacob and Furgerson (2012) suggest that the human story is the heart of qualitative research, and the best way to collect that story is through interviews. In this study, the researcher was solely responsible not only for creating the instrument used to collect the data but also for collecting and analyzing the data. Castillo-Montoya (2016) suggests a refined framework of four phases that will strengthen the reliability of interviews that include: (a) aligning interview questions with research questions, (b) balancing inquiry and conversation, (c) examining the interview questions for clarity, and (d) piloting the interviews with someone who closely matches the research criteria but will not be one of the participants.

Developing a script was one of the first steps in the interview process. Jacob and Furgerson (2012) insist that scripts are useful tools for guiding the researcher through the

interview process by ensuring that they do not leave out relevant information or neglect to ask important questions. Initial and follow-up interviews were the assessment tools for this study. The initial interview helped to build trust with the interviewees while gathering important background data (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). Since the initial interview helped the interviewee become more familiar with the interview process, the follow-up interview followed with more difficult questions than the initial interview.

The interview questions used entailed an adaptation from a questionnaire created by Delost (2017) (see Appendix E). I obtained permission to use and modify the questionnaire from the author. While the original questionnaire does pertain to growth mindset and addresses some aspects of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, the interview questions I designed were based on the research question. The questions also related to the conceptual framework and the review of the research literature of the current study, especially concerning the attitudes and beliefs of teachers about growth mindset, as well as their perceptions of using growth mindset practices in the classroom and its impact on student motivation. The initial interview consisted of background questions designed to gather information about the teachers' years of experience in a Title I school and more specifically, in a Title I middle school. There were also several structural questions that provide data about the teachers' understanding of growth mindset, their comfort with using growth mindset strategies in their classrooms, and their experiences using strategies focused on growth mindset. The follow-up interview included questions that provided more detailed data on the teachers' perceptions of how the growth mindset practices have influenced the intrinsic motivation of the students. The interview questions are in the appendix of this research document.

Focus Group Protocol

The setup of the focus group session was like the interviews, including the recording of the session. The participants sat around a table in chairs set up in a circle. The researcher assumed the role of facilitator during this focus group. Krueger (2002) suggests that focus groups should be no more than 10 people who align with the sample size of this study. The researcher informed the participants at the beginning of the study that their participation in the focus group was recommended but voluntary, so there could have been less than the six participants that gave interviews. The session took place using an agenda in the following order: (a) welcome, (b) presentation of the topic, (c) guidelines for the session, and (d) questions (Krueger, 2002). The questions focused on the connection between growth mindset practices in the classroom and their effects on the intrinsic motivation of students and were developed by the researcher or modified from the remaining questions on the questionnaire by Delost (2017). The session was less than one hour, to respect the time of the participants. The questions used during the focus group are in Appendix C.

Data Collection Procedures

For this study, data collection consisted of three components: an initial interview, a follow-up interview, and a focus group. The following sections include a discussion of the collection procedures for each component.

Initial Interview

Participants for the initial interviews selected a time on the schedule according to their availability during their conference periods, lunch periods, or after school. The researcher created and emailed the schedule to all participants. An electronic invitation added the date and time of the interview to the participant's electronic calendars, and an automated reminder sent

for each appointment. The location of the interviews was flexible according to the participant's preference (including classrooms, library, teacher's lounge, courtyard, or outside locations such as a coffee house or restaurant) with consideration given to privacy and background noise. For accuracy purposes, recording of the interviews took place unless the participant did not agree to the recording on the consent form. The interviews were between 45 and 60 minutes in length, so the participants agreed to participate in the interviews after school hours to allow for an appropriate amount of time to thoroughly answer the questions.

The questions in the initial interview were more basic questions including the background information of the teachers with the more complex questions taking place during the follow-up interview to allow the interviewee to become comfortable with the process (Woods, n.d.). Before beginning the interview, participants were reminded that the researcher would record the interview, the steps that would be taken to protect their privacy and the purpose of the study which is to investigate the teachers' perceptions of the effect of the use of growth mindset practices on the intrinsic motivation of the students. After the interview, the researcher thanked the participant for their time, scheduled for their follow-up interview, and invited them to participate in the focus group.

Follow-Up Interview

After the completion of all six initial interviews, the researcher sent out the schedule for the follow-up interviews. As with the initial interviews, the participants received an email to schedule the interviews and then sent an electronic invitation so that the date of the follow-up interview would appear on their electronic calendar. The location and time depended on the availability of the participant. The purpose of the follow-up interview was to ask more complex questions in order to gather a more in-depth understanding of the phenomenon that was the focus

of the study. Woods (n.d.) suggests that the main advantage of a semistructured interview was that it provides a more in-depth, more detailed look into an event or concept than other data collection methods.

The researcher reminded the participants of the protection of their privacy, their consent to be recorded, and the purpose of the final interview questions. The questions in this follow-up interview were different from the questions used in the initial interview. This interview required less time than the first because the purpose was to get any other information that the interviewee wished to add to the experiences they previously shared. This interview took 30-45 minutes.

Focus Group

Focus groups are a useful method for collecting qualitative data. Gill, Stewart, Treasure, and Chadwick (2008) suggest that focus groups are a good way to obtain collective views, beliefs, and experiences of a group of individuals. Focus groups can be useful for clarifying or validating the data collected during the interviews (Gill et al., 2008). During the initial and follow-up interviews, the participants were invited to participate in a focus group to take place after school on a day convenient for all participants. The location of the focus groups was any place convenient to the participants inside or outside of the school.

The researcher's role was one of facilitator, ensuring that all voices were heard and asking the questions that the focus group discussed without actually participating in the discussion. The researcher reminded the participants of the need to record the session and gained consent from all participants. Participation in the focus group was voluntary but included all six participants. All participants received a copy of the focus group questions, and if a focus group participant was not comfortable answering questions orally, they had the option to complete the focus group questions as an open-ended questionnaire. The session took 48 minutes due to the

richness of the discussion. After the focus group, the researcher thanked the participants for their time and advised that the transcripts would be made available to them to ensure that their views and statements are accurate.

Data Analysis Procedures

Hatch (2002) states that the main purpose of qualitative data analysis is to ensure that the information obtained through the collection process is accurate in its communication to others. The first step in the process of the data analysis was to transcribe the data from the recordings (or notes if the participant requested an exemption from the recordings) obtained during the initial interview, follow-up interview, and the focus group. According to Yin (2014), computer software can be useful in helping the researcher categorize or code large amounts of transcribed data. Once the researcher transcribed the data from the recordings, the researcher then used NVivo12 to assist in the coding and analysis of the data. This computer software aided in the identification of common patterns and themes in the text.

Hatch (2002) proposed that there are five methods for analyzing qualitative data: typological, inductive, interpretive, political, and polyvocal. After studying each type, I decided that I would use inductive and interpretive methods for analyzing the interview data. Inductive and interpretive data analysis complement each other as both types encourage the researcher to read the data multiple times while looking for a commonality among the data. As with inductive analysis, the process began by reading and re-reading the data while looking for categories of relationships (Hatch, 2002). The results were then further reduced by combining repetitive or similar categories and examining each category for their relevance to the research questions.

The interpretive method of data analysis seeks to give meaning to the data (Hatch, 2002).

The data was read multiple times in order to make interpretations of what I think the data is

saying. The data was then re-read to find places that support the interpretations made (Hatch, 2002). Member checking was then used by sharing the interpretations with the participants and adjusting them as necessary according to their feedback. Member checking was done to ensure the accuracy of the reported results. For the focus group data analysis, the researcher used constant comparison analysis developed by Glaser and Strauss (1999). The constant comparison analysis is made up of three stages: chunking the data, coding, and grouping the data, and creating themes from those groups. This method was chosen for analyzing the focus group data because it is similar to the method described by Hatch (2002) that was used to analyze the interview data (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2009).

Limitations of Research Design

Case studies are useful methods for building theories and finding meaning in a phenomenon (Vissak, 2010). While case studies are a preferred method of studying an event or phenomenon within a real-life context (Zainal, 2007), like other research methods, they are not without limitations. One limitation of this exploratory case study is the lack of generalizability to a larger population because of the small number of participants and the specific nature of the event or situation that makes up the focus for the study (Yin, 2014). This study can, however, build a basic theory that will lead to extensive research using various parameters and methods.

Another limitation of the current study is replicability. Due to the specific nature of case studies, they can be difficult to replicate (McLeod, 2008). In attempting to replicate case study research, the findings may be similar, but one should expect some variation because case studies usually look at a particular situation. The situation in the replicated study may have just enough variation to change the results. The current study will hopefully inspire other researchers to replicate the study using the various interventions with Title I middle school students to find the

most effective method for increasing the intrinsic motivation and growth mindsets of the students. Extending the findings beyond Title I schools can also help educators find the most effective methods for motivating students in any school setting.

Researcher bias is a limitation of case study research designs (Vissak, 2010). Bracketing will help reduce the threat of researcher bias. Also, member checking and allowing the participants to review the transcripts for accuracy ensured that the findings reported are an accurate representation of the participants' perceptions and not based off the biases or presuppositions of the researcher.

The fact that this study took place during a short period and in only one school is also a limitation. However, the hope is that the limited number of participants will allow the researcher to provide the reader with a deeper and more in-depth understanding of the situation, inspiring them to extend the research. Boddy (2016) suggests that even a single participant study can provide a deep understanding and valuable direction for further research.

Data Quality

Credibility

Pandey and Patnaik (2014) refer to credibility as the effort of the researcher to establish a causal relationship by examining how one condition causes the other. They further go on to suggest that when researchers speak about credibility, they often refer to internal validity because the two are closely related (Pandey & Patnaik, 2014). Addressing the internal validity of a study would then refer to the effort of the researcher to establish the credibility of their research. Triangulation and member checks are two ways of establishing credibility.

Triangulation of methods refers to using different methods to ensure the consistency of the findings (Pandey & Patnaik, 2014). The current study triangulated the study by using three

methods of collecting data: an initial interview, a post-interview, and a focus group. The data from these instruments were cross-checked and compared to gain a clearer more in-depth understanding of the teacher's perceptions of growth mindset practices in the classroom and how those perceptions may impact the intrinsic motivations of the students in a Title I middle school.

Member checking is another useful way of establishing credibility and is a tool that Lincoln and Guba (1985) considers being the most important way to enhance the credibility of a study (as cited in Pandey & Patnaik, 2014). Once the transcription of the data from the interviews and the focus group was complete, it was shared with the participants and adjusted as necessary based on their feedback. Sharing the transcriptions with the participants ensured that the information reported was as accurate as possible and not influenced by researcher bias. During the member checking process, the researcher asked the participants the following questions that were adapted from the suggested questions of Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, and Walter (2016):

- 1. Do the findings match your experience?
- 2. Would you like to change anything about the findings?
- 3. Are there any additional experiences you would like to add to the findings?

 Once the participants reviewed the transcripts, they had the option to request corrections to the information if it was not an accurate representation of the information they shared.

Generalization

Pandey and Patnaik (2014) noted that generalization is related to the transferability of the study to other situations. One way to address the external validity of the study is to use thick descriptions which refer to the detailed accounts of the researcher's experiences in order to determine if the findings are transferable to other situations (Pandey & Patnaik, 2014). Johnson

(1997) noted that the selection of participants is vital to the external validity of the study because the participants and setting of the study will affect the transferability and generalizability of the study. For this study, I selected a research setting and participants that are representative of a public-school setting. The participants varied in years of experience, ethnicity, and age.

Trustworthiness

Marshall and Rossman (2016) insist that trustworthiness is an essential criterion of proper research and should be considered during the proposal stage. In addressing the reliability of a study, Pandey and Patnaik (2014) refer to the dependability of the study. One way to ensure the dependability of the study is to use an inquiry audit. The purpose of the audit is to provide an outsider with the chance to challenge the process, findings, and conclusions of the study and how the data supports the findings and conclusions (Pandey & Patnaik, 2014). The researcher used an audit trail to keep track of everything that occurred during the study. Another way of enhancing the dependability of the study will be to include appendices at the end of the study that will include invitation letters, consent forms, and questions used in the interviews and focus groups (or open-ended questionnaire). Including appendices at the end of the study will ensure that the inquiry audit will include as much information as possible for verifying the dependability of the study.

I have kept a reflective journal during this study, which contains notes about the research processes used in this study. Ortlipp (2008) suggests that the use of a reflective journal throughout the study enables the researcher to document their personal beliefs, experiences, and opinions and details about the research process. Keeping a journal can help the researcher understand their role and in turn, can adjust the behaviors of the researcher as needed to increase the dependability of the study. The reflective journal can influence changes to the design and

execution of the study (Ortlipp, 2008). I also used the journal to note the non-verbal behavior of the participants, which aided in the interpretation of the data.

Expected Findings

This study took place with the expectation that teachers in a Title I middle school had some prior knowledge of growth mindset practices and actively used those practices in their classrooms to some degree. The hope was that the teachers would be able to share their experiences and perceptions about growth mindset practices and the movement of the students toward a more intrinsic motivation and away from the need for extrinsic motivators. The research question in this study helped guide the development of the instruments that were used to collect data.

In regard to the research question, the researcher expected to find variations in the perceptions of the teachers in a Title I middle school based on their years of experience as teachers, their years of experiences in Title I schools, and the extent of their use of growth mindset practices in their classrooms and their perceptions of their students' intrinsic motivation. The questions asked during the initial interview provided the expected background information of the teachers as well as their knowledge and use of growth mindset practices. Because growth mindset strategies are new in the school, the researcher expected to find low to moderate use of the practices, but that the use of the practices may have increased or improved once the participant took part in the study.

Measure for Ethical Protections of Participants

Conflict of Interest Assessment

In the current study, the researcher was not in any supervisory or leadership position over the participants in the study. There was no potential financial gain for the researchers or the participants. Participation in this study was strictly voluntary, and the participants could withdraw their participation at any time without the threat of retaliation or threat to the participant's job security. There were no agreements made with outside organizations that could pose any conflict with reporting accurate results.

Researcher's Position

The researcher was solely responsible for the recruiting, scheduling, and selection of participants. The researcher collected and analyzed all the data. The data collected will remain in possession of the researcher who will lock it in a lockbox every evening and for three years after the completion of the study at which point the researcher will destroy the data by way of an electronic shredder. All digital records were stored on a flash drive, which will be kept in a lock box for three years then erased. Since the researcher is a colleague of the participants, it helped them feel more at ease when answering interview questions or participating in the focus group but could have also caused the participants to want to have informal conversations or get off topic.

Ethical Issues in the Study

To ensure that the appropriate protections are in place for all humans participating in a study, educational institutions use the Institutional Review Board (IRB) committees (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I obtained approval from the IRB of the school district as well as Concordia University—Portland before conducting the study. Once the necessary parties approved, the researcher took measures to replace all identifiable information using pseudonyms. The pseudonym for the school district was Love School District, and the pseudonym of the middle school, Peace Middle School. The participants were assigned a five-digit numerical code to protect their confidentiality (e.g. Participant #12345).

The IRB of the school district and the university considered and approved any potential ethical issues. The participants received a consent form that included the purpose of the study, the potential risks of the study, and contact information. There was also a space on the form where the participant could have opted out of having their responses recorded during the interviews or focus group. The researcher reminded the participants that their participation was strictly voluntary and that they had the right to end their participation at any time. The data analysis was available for the participants to review.

Chapter 3 Summary

This chapter included a description of the qualitative research approach and the exploratory case study design used for this study. Also, this chapter included a description of the purpose of the study, the context of the study, the role of the researcher, the data collection instruments, and procedures, the data analysis plan, expected findings, and ethical and quality measures. The selection of participants is also discussed in this chapter and consisted of six teachers who teach in the Title I middle school and who volunteered to share their perceptions of growth mindset practices in the classroom. The systematic data and collection procedures used in this study provided a better understanding of the phenomenon that was the focus of the study.

Chapter 4 includes a description of the results of this study. The chapter begins with a description of the data collection process, organization of the data, and the preparation of the data for analysis. For this study, the researcher used the inductive and interpretive method of the data analysis for case studies recommended by Hatch (2002). I first presented a description of my own experiences with growth mindset practices in the classroom. The discussion of the results includes a discussion of themes that emerged during the analysis process from statements made by the participants and my own experiences. The chapter also includes a discussion of the

themes to get a whole picture of the collective experiences of the use of growth mindset practices in the classroom and their effects on the intrinsic motivation of the students. The chapter ends with an explanation of the strategies used to ensure the reliability and validity of the study.

Chapter 5 includes an interpretation of the findings of the conceptual framework of this study and the review of the literature. Also, Chapter 5 includes recommendations for future research, recommendations for action, and implications for positive social change in education along with the presentations of the researcher reflections about the case study research process.

Chapter 4: Data Analysis and Results

Introduction

This case study aimed to explore the perceptions of teachers in a Title I middle school concerning the use of growth mindset practices in the classroom and the effects of those practices on the motivation of the students. Teachers in Title I middle schools often face challenges regarding student motivation (Jensen, 2014). For this reason, middle schools use a lot of extrinsic motivators in order to get the students to complete tasks or produce the desired results. However, extrinsic motivators produce only a short-term effect (Árnason, 2006; Bowman, 2011; Gutshall, 2013; Rhew, 2017; Ruiz, 2010; Santos, 2014) which will do little to help the students persevere through high school and beyond.

Teachers in middle schools must find strategies that will help them increase the intrinsic motivation of students, which will, in turn, help the students face the challenges of high school and persevere even when the content and expectations become more difficult (Vansteenkiste et al., 2004). Growth mindset strategies regarding its impact on the intrinsic motivation of students have been the focus of several studies. As a teacher who has taught for several years in a Title I middle school, the researcher noticed the general lack of motivation and desire to be academically successful in many of the students. Many students return to the middle school after starting high school, complaining that they did not have the appropriate tools to handle the independence and pressure of high school. Some of them eventually adjust and manage to graduate, but some of them drop out. Approximately 33% of those who drop out do so during or after the student's ninth grade year (Pharris-Ciurej, Hirschman, & Willhoft, 2012). The dropout rates of students who enter college but drop out before earning a degree are estimated to be more than 50% (Selingo, 2018). My desire to find a way to help students persevere and succeed in

middle school and beyond led me to search for ways to increase the intrinsic motivation of the students. Research conducted on the growth mindset and student motivation focused on specific content (Antweil, n.d.; Árnason, 2006; Bedford, 2017) or at a specific level such as elementary or high school.

Since there is a limited amount of research conducted from the perspective of middle school teachers teaching in Title I schools who use growth mindset strategies, it was essential to conduct this exploratory case study. The research question guided this study: How do the perceptions of Title I middle school teachers' impact the intrinsic motivation of students as it relates to the use of growth mindset strategies in the classroom? This chapter will include a description of the sample, a description of the method used to coding and analyzing the research data, a summary of the findings, and a presentation of the data and the results.

Description of the Sample

The setting for this study is in a Title I middle school in a moderately sized school district. The school includes grades 6-8. The school serves approximately 650 students. Over 95% of the students qualify for free or reduced lunch (Schoolnet, 2018). Table 1 includes the breakdown of students' ethnicity. The demographic detail shows the number of Hispanic and African American students that attend the Title I school chosen for this study. While this study will not focus on ethnicity, the ethnicity is essential to understanding the cultures that make up the student body and thereby assisting in the understanding of the specific needs of that student body.

Table 1
Student Demographics

Ethnicity	Percentage	
African American	8.5%	
Hispanic	87.9%	
White	2.0%	
American Indian	0.2%	
Asian	0.5%	
Two or More Races	1.1%	

The faculty and staff of the middle school include 52 teachers, three counselors, three assistant principals, one principal, and employees including food service staff, office staff, instructional coaches, parent support specialists, librarians, Communities in School (CIS) workers, and nurses.

The researcher introduced the study during a faculty meeting. The researcher advised the teachers that an email invitation would follow including a description of the study. All 52 teachers who teach grades 6-8 were sent an email explaining the purpose of the study, the criteria for participation, and instructions for volunteering to be a participant in the study. The criteria for eligible participants: (a) teach sixth, seventh, or eighth grade; (b) teach in the Title I middle school where the study will take place; and (c) use growth mindset strategies in their classroom. The assumption was that all teachers in the school are using growth mindset strategies in their classroom due to a three-day training that the faculty and staff received in 2017 as well as the reminders and refreshers provided during several faculty meetings during the 2018–2019 school years.

Of the 52 teachers who received the email, seven teachers responded. Several other teachers offered to participate in the study but admitted that they did not quite fit the criteria. Six participants were the sample size chosen for this study for the following reasons: (a) the time

limit provided by the school district to collect data was restricted o the fall semester only.

Therefore there would not have been enough time to study more than six participants; (b)

Creswell (2013) suggests that in case study research four to five participants should be enough to identify themes within the data collected; (c) Guest, Bunce, and Johnson (2006) suggests that most themes are emergent in as few as six interviews; and (d) conducting the study with six participants was approved by the IRB of the school district and the university.

Three males and four females responded that they were interested in being a participant.

The three males and three females that met the criteria were selected. The three males and three females that were selected included representatives for all grade levels six through eight. The selected participants represented all content areas, science, social studies, math, and reading.

There were also representatives from the special education department in the selected participant group, ensuring that the sample was an adequate representation of the faculty of the school.

The years of teaching service ranged from three to 14 years. Two of the participants had three years of teaching experience, one participant had four years, one participant had six years, and two participants had 14 years. The numbers of years the participants have taught in a Title I school ranged from one to 14 years. Table 2 shows the gender, grade level and content area taught by each participant, their total years of teaching service, the number of those years that were spent teaching in a Title I middle school, and the number of years the participant has been using growth mindset practices in the classroom.

Table 2

Participant Demographics

Participant Number	Gender	Content Area	Total Years of Teaching	Years Teaching in a Title I school	Years Using Growth Mindset
Participant 12785	3.6	8th grade Science			
	M		4	3	2
Participant 32415	M	6th grade Science	14	13	11
Participant 75486	M	6th grade Reading	3	3	3
Participant 15469	F	8th grade Math	3	1	1.5
Participant 15742	F	6th- 8th grade *Life Skills	6	6	3
Participant 13092	F	6th and 7th grade Social Studies	14	14	14

Note. Life Skills is the designation for the classroom that serves the Intellectually disabled population of the school.

Research Methodology and Analysis

The researcher chose to use an exploratory case study design for this study. Exploratory case studies explore a particular event in order to encourage further examination of the event (Zainal, 2007). An initial interview, a follow-up interview, and a set of focus group questions were used to collect data from the participants. The initial interview questions consisted of background information and general questions about growth mindset. These questions served three purposes: (a) to gain essential background information on the participants, (b) to familiarize the participants with the interview process and help them get more comfortable with being recorded, and (c) to examine each participant's level of understanding of growth mindset, fixed mindset, intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, and praise.

The follow-up interview consisted of more detailed questions that explored the participant's classroom practices and their perceptions of those practices. These questions encouraged a richer conversation of growth mindset strategies and the participant's perceptions

of how those strategies influence student motivation. The focus group questions went a step further to encourage in-depth conversations among all participants about their perceptions of their mindset and motivation as well as the mindset and motivation of the students.

The researcher transcribed the interviews and focus group recordings. Each participant could review their transcript for accuracy before the coding process began. One participant clarified a section of the tape where their voice became inaudible. The researcher corrected the transcript. None of the other participants required corrections to their transcript. The 13 transcripts (sic initial, six follow-ups, and one focus group) were then uploaded into NVivo 12; qualitative analysis software used to assist in the coding and analysis of the data. The analysis of the data consisted of the inductive and interpretive methods—comparison of the transcripts assisted in finding the commonality in the data. Themes emerged with the help of the coding software. The researcher read the data multiple times to interpret the information provided by each participant and to give the data meaning (Hatch, 2002).

The researcher used Glaser and Strauss comparison analysis with the focus group data because it consists of three parts: chunking the data, coding, and grouping the data, and creating themes from those groups (Glaser and Strauss, 1999). The design of the focus group questions aimed to promote a more in-depth discussion of growth mindset and motivation and therefore required more interpretation than the more straightforward interview questions. The creation of codes took place after the transcription of the interviews by reading them with a focus on commonality. After creating the first round of codes, the researcher reread the transcripts with the initial set of codes in mind to determine if there were codes to combine, codes that could be more specific, or new codes to create. Rereading the transcripts aided in grouping the information into the different codes and to look for emerging themes. After coding the

transcripts, the researcher categorized the information into themes. The researcher reviewed the themes for their relevance to the research question.

Summary of the Findings

The purpose of this study was to gain a better understanding of Title I middle school teachers' perceptions as it relates to growth mindset strategies in the classroom and its impact on the intrinsic motivation of the students. Themes emerged from the coding and analysis of the initial and follow-up interviews and the focus group. Six themes emerged as a result of the analysis of the initial interviews: understanding mindset, use of growth mindset strategies, understanding motivation, the current mindset of the students, what influences teacher practice, behaviors associated with fixed and growth mindsets. An analysis of the follow-up interview questions also yielded five themes: attitudes about growth mindset, intrinsic versus extrinsic motivation, changes in student motivation, the relationship between motivation and academic success, and general perceptions of growth mindset practices in the classroom. Analysis of the focus group revealed the following four themes: using a growth mindset to respond to students, embracing failure, teacher mindset, and celebrating improvement great and small. These themes are presented in Table 3 and will appear in the sections that follow.

Table 3

Main Themes

Initial Interview Themes	Follow-Up Interview Themes	Focus Group Themes
Understanding the Mindset	Attitudes about Growth Mindset	Using the Growth Mindset
Understanding Motivation	Intrinsic versus Extrinsic	to Respond to Students
Current Mindset of the	Motivation	
Students		Embracing Failure
	Changes in Student Motivation	
Influencing Teacher Practice		Celebrating Improvement
Mindset Behaviors	Motivation and Academic	Great and Small
	Success	
		Teacher Mindset
	General Perceptions of Growth	
	Mindset Practices	

Presentation of the Data and Results

The interview (initial and follow-up) and focus group data were coded and analyzed. The researcher triangulated the data by using initial interviews, follow-up interviews, and a focus group. These instruments chosen for this study created a richer, more in-depth understanding of the phenomenon that was the focus of the study. Data were collected to answer the primary research question: How do the perceptions of Title I middle school teachers impact the intrinsic the motivation of students as it relates to the use of growth mindset strategies in the classroom? Most of the teachers interviewed had a positive attitude about the use of growth mindset strategies in the classroom and agreed that those practices have the potential to impact the intrinsic motivation of the students.

During their interviews and the focus group, the participants focused mainly on the attitudes of the students and the growth mindset language that has been effective for changing the mindset and the motivation of the students. Many of the participants also focused on the power of their peers for promoting a growth mindset culture in the school and each other's

classrooms. A discussion of the themes that were evident in the analysis of the data is in the sections that follow. This chapter has three sections: initial interview, follow-up interview, and focus group. There is a discussion of the themes for each of the data collection instruments within their respective sections (see Table 3).

Initial Interviews

The six participants selected for this study were sent an email requesting the time and place they would like to conduct the interview. The initial interviews were conducted in either the interviewer's or the interviewee's classroom and were conducted outside of the participants contractual hours except for two participants who chose to use their lunchtime for the interviews. None of the initial interviews lasted more than 30 minutes. The questions in the initial interview (see Appendix E) served three purposes: 1) to gather relevant background information on the participant in regards to their years of teaching service and their use of growth mindset strategies, 2) to determine the participant's level of understanding of the types of mindset and the types of motivation, and 3) to allow the participant to familiarize themselves with the interview process and become more comfortable with being recorded. After the transcription of the data, it was uploaded into NVivo12 to assist with the coding and analyzing of the data. Although the researcher created multiple codes reviewing the codes allowed the researcher to merge them with similar codes. A discussion of the resulting themes is in the sections that follow.

Understanding the Mindset

In order to gain a better understanding of teacher's perceptions of a growth mindset, it is imperative to determine if the teachers understand the types of mindset, the definition of each type, and can differentiate between a fixed and a growth mindset. The researcher did not define these terms for the participants at the start of the study in order to avoid influencing the data. The

staff had three-day training on the growth mindset in 2017, with reviews taking place in several faculty meetings this 2018–2019 school year.

Dweck (2010) defines a growth mindset as the belief that intelligence can be developed through learning and effort while a fixed mindset is a belief that intelligence cannot be changed. When asked to define growth and fixed mindset, all of the participants had a clear understanding of the term. With a clear understanding of mindset, it will be easier for the participants to create a growth mindset environment in their classrooms and more easily recognize fixed mindset language and behaviors. Their responses were very similar when defining the two terms. For instance, when asked to define a growth mindset. Participant 12785 responded: "It is allowing them I guess you could say to reach their potential academically or just their behavior." The participant's response identified behavioral attributes as a component of a growth mindset. According to Bindreiff (2016), teachers with a growth mindset can see behavior as skills that need to be learned not a fixed trait in a student.

Participant 32415 responded: "Well, I would define it as you know everybody has the capability of learning something. It may be at different levels, but they have the capability."

When thinking of learning some educators may see learning in terms of "do they get it or not."

Participant 32415's response suggests that "the measure of learning should be individualized."

Some students may learn at a faster rate than other students. They may also begin at a different level so one cannot measure learning by intelligence but by effort, as Dweck (2010) suggests.

Participant 13092 responded: "The belief is that anybody can learn more than they already know." was a more basic definition of growth mindset yet still demonstrates that this participant is on some level aware of what growth mindset means.

Likewise, when the participants were asked to define a fixed mindset, they also had similar answers that varied by their level of expertise in mindsets. For instance, Participant 15742 responded: "I mean I think a fixed mindset is like either you got it, or you do not." This response demonstrated a basic understanding of the growth mindset because the concept of a fixed mindset encompasses much more than whether you have "it" or not. A fixed mindset can limit one's ability to expand their thinking as well as develop their talents in non-academic areas (Chase, 2010; Davis, 2017). Participant 75486 gave a more detailed response when asked to define a growth mindset by stating: "It is the idea that I am bad at something, I am born bad, I am going to stay bad, and all life there is nothing I can do about it." This response did not limit fixed mindset to the classroom but could pertain to any goal, task, or accomplishment an individual encounter. One of the most in-depth responses came from Participant 15469, who stated:

"I would define a fixed mindset as the perspective that you know I am dumb; this is how I am going to be forever. I'm bad at math. I'm just not going to be good at this. I have some innate flaw where I'm just not going to be able to do it."

The responses by participants 75486 and 15469 are similar in their views that students feel that they are "born bad" or that intelligence or the lack thereof is an "innate" characteristic.

Throughout the data collection process, three of the six participants used math as part of their definition of a fixed or growth mindset regardless of the content they teach. For instance, Participant 13092 is a history teacher, but when asked to define growth mindset she stated:

Like, for me, math is my weakness because if I am not practicing it all the time, I will forget the steps of how to solve an algebraic equation or whatever. However, I do like math, but I believe I can learn how to do it if I practice. You know I mean it is not like I

can never do it and I am not good at math and I will never to be able to multiply percents or whatever. I know I could, and I know anybody could if they just practice it. So that is what it means to me.

It may be the stigma that is placed on math as being one of the most challenging subjects that caused many of the teachers to refer to math in their responses and examples. It could also be because the researcher is a math teacher, and the participants were responding in a way that they felt would be relevant to the researcher.

Participant 12785 suggested that the students' economic status and the environment they are growing up in is a factor of their mixed mindset. The participant said

I guess a fixed mindset would be contrary to what we just said just kind of like fixed on a certain you know goals that they have or even their financial situation and their economic situation.

The participant also felt that socioeconomic status is one of many factors that may impact whether individuals view circumstances through either a growth or fixed mindset.

Use of Growth Mindset Strategies

Upon examining the participants understanding of what growth and fixed mindset is, it was necessary to go a step further by examining the participants' level of use of growth mindset strategies in the classroom. The purpose of this study was to examine the teacher's perception of growth mindset so it essential to understand how much the teachers are using growth mindset before attempting to understand their perception of the impact those strategies have on the intrinsic motivation of the students. The participants were asked during the initial interview how long they had been using growth mindset strategies in their classroom. All participants reported

using growth mindset strategies to some degree in their classrooms. The years they had been using growth mindset strategies varied from 1.5 years to 14 years (see Table 2).

After reflecting on her definition of a growth mindset, Participant 13092 responded: "I would say the whole time just maybe I did not know that that is what it was called." The response indicates that growth mindset practices could be used by teachers who do not know that they are using growth mindset practices because they are not familiar with the terminology. As teachers become more aware of the terminology, they can focus on using these strategies more in the classroom. Some teachers may want to use growth mindset practices in their classrooms but do not know how to implement the practices effectively. It could also be the case that the teachers understand growth mindset strategies but cannot find ways to implement them with their special populations.

Participant 15742 expressed a desire to use growth mindset practices more than she has been but could not figure out how. This participant teaches a special population in the Life Skills room. The students she teaches have a wide array of intellectual and sometimes physical and neurological disabilities. She expressed during her interview that she uses mostly extrinsic motivators because of the students' level of understanding and would like more training on how to use growth mindset practices to build more intrinsic motivations with the special population she teaches.

When asked how the participants became interested in a growth mindset, Participant 32415 stated: "Actually, it was in my professional life before teaching that I came to use a growth mindset." Moreover, in response to the question of how long the participant had been using those strategies in the classroom, he responded: "Since I have been back teaching for 11 years."

However, during the follow-up interview Participant 32415 stated that he felt that growth mindset strategies did not work for some students. It is interesting to note that the participant used growth mindset practices before teaching, and during the majority of his years as a teacher, but he does not believe that the practices work for all students. The teacher continues to use the practice even though he does not fell, it is successful. All participants, including Participant 32415, indicated that they would continue using growth mindset strategies in the classroom, and two of the participants said they would also use growth mindset strategies in their personal lives as well.

Understanding Motivation

Since the research questions for this study was related to intrinsic motivation, it is necessary to know whether the participants know what motivation is and the difference between intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Therefore, the participants were asked during the initial interview to define intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Extrinsic motivation is driven by an external stimulus such as praise, rewards, or punishment while intrinsic motivation, which Árnason (2006) describes as the desire to act based on internal stimuli without the need for external rewards or punishments, is driven by the internal satisfaction one gets from the accomplishment (Bedford, 2017). Five of the six participants were able to define both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. However, one of the participants did not demonstrate a clear understanding of the definition of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Participant 12785, when asked to define extrinsic and intrinsic motivation responded: "Intrinsic would be them trying to solve a problem and thinking internally, and extrinsic is the actual outcome." There were other statements made by the participant as the interview progressed that demonstrated a more

accurate understanding of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. A discussion of these statements appears in the next section of this chapter.

Although five out of six participants gave a clear definition of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Most of their definitions of extrinsic motivation did not include punishment as an extrinsic motivator. Students not only become accustomed to doing things if rewards are waiting for them after the task, but they also become accustomed to the threat of some punishment awaiting them if they do not complete the task. Since there is no threat of punishment, the students do not feel obligated to complete the task. Only one of the five participants mentioned punishment as an extrinsic motivator. Participant 75486 responded: "As I understand it extrinsic motivators are more you are going to get something or if you do not do this something might happen to you." When asked which motivation the participants felt the students currently exhibited, all six participants stated that the students currently responded to mainly extrinsic motivation and that very few students demonstrated behaviors that would indicate they were using intrinsic motivation to be successful.

Current Motivation of the Students

Antweil (n.d.) suggests that extrinsic motivation should not be looked upon negatively but can be useful for guiding students toward intrinsic motivation. There are extrinsic motivators present in many different aspects of our lives. The issue with extrinsic motivation is that it produces only a short-term effect lasting until the reward is received or the threat of punishment is no longer present (Árnason, 2006). Extrinsic motivation can be useful for some tasks but is not effective for building long term perseverance. Intrinsic motivation is necessary to sustain an individual in the face of challenges and the achievement of long-term goals. It is true that one cannot measure motivation; however, one can conclude from the observations on whether a

behavior occurred due to an external or internal factor (Árnason, 2006). During the initial interview, the researcher asked participants which type of motivation they felt the students currently exhibited.

Two of the six participants expressed the need for intrinsic motivation to be built in the students from earlier grades than middle school because the students seem to be accustomed to receiving some reward for their efforts. Participant 15469 stated:

So, it seems like they are pretty accustomed to that kind of motivators and they do seem to work well with them, but it is not making many connections between what they are learning now and why their education is valuable to them.

Extrinsic motivation can be used in conjunction with growth mindset strategies to improve the intrinsic motivation of the students (Antweil, n.d.). Some teachers may not be aware that extrinsic motivators can be useful while trying to promote more intrinsic motivation in students. For instance, Participant 15742 responded:

Well, being that I work with a unique population, sometimes it is hard to get outside of the habit of doing extrinsic. Like, I have students, who because I do life skills, are very like food motivated so it is kind of like do this task so that you can get food.

The extrinsic motivators of food or snacks can be used but gradually reduced to move the students toward doing the tasks for the internal satisfaction of it and less for the reward of food. All participants mentioned reward systems, but only Participant 75486 discussed how the student's reliance on extrinsic motivators might not be for reward but a way to avoid the punishment, which is also an extrinsic motivator. Schools often use detention or the threat of parent phone calls to force compliance.

Influencing Teacher Practice

The attitude and beliefs of the teacher influence classroom environments, so it is essential to explore the factors and resources that influence the teacher's perceptions. In a Title, I middle school; the mindsets of the teachers can become fixed due to the experiences and challenges they face in the classroom (Jensen, 2014). Understanding the factors that influence the perceptions of the teachers, thereby influencing their practice is essential in creating a growth mindset environment (Dweck 2010). During the initial interview, the participants were asked how they developed an interest in the growth mindset. The researcher also asked the participants what factors supported them in fostering a culture of growth mindset in the classroom.

In response to how they developed an interest in the growth mindset, the answers varied. Participant 12785 reported developing an interest in the growth mindset as a student in grade school. Participant 32415 reported developing an interest in growth mindset during his professional life before becoming a teacher. The other four participants reported professional developments, videos, and training courses as being the source of their interest in the growth mindset. Regardless of how and when the participants developed their interest in the growth mindset, it was evident by their responses that all participants were interested in using growth mindset strategies in their classrooms. Árnason (2006) points out that teacher attitude is an essential element for maximizing learning opportunities in the classroom.

In response to what factors support them in fostering a growth mindset in their students, Participants 12785, 32415, 15469, and 13092 stated that their peers or colleagues were their most significant support in fostering a growth mindset in their classrooms. For instance, Participant 13092 stated: "Honestly mostly it is other teachers. I mean the administration is not in our classroom a lot to do that. So mostly it is other teachers when we talk about kids." This response

has a definite relation to the idea that the perceptions of teachers play an essential role in the implementation and effectiveness of growth mindset strategies because as the teachers discuss the students and situations in the classroom, the mindsets of the teachers can be changed or adjusted which will, in turn, benefit the students.

One participant gave a different perspective about what assists him in his efforts toward fostering growth mindset practices in the classroom. Participant 75486 reported that observing the students influenced his growth mindset efforts in the classroom, stating:

Really the proof is in the pudding as they say that really the student results and the students, you know their confidence levels, and their confidence in themselves changing and increasing over time is really the biggest proof that I've seen.

One of the best forms of encouragement when trying to implement a new strategy is to see positive results from it. The teacher's perception of the growth mindset will improve as the students improve. Teachers can share their success stories with other teachers who connect with the response of the participants who stated that other teachers were their primary source of support. Hearing examples that the strategies work can help maintain, reinforce, or renew the efforts of the other teachers.

Although the majority of the participants credited other teachers or the students themselves as being their primary source of inspiration, Participant 15742 credited books, videos, and Ted Talks as the factors that support her efforts toward creating a growth mindset culture in her classroom, the participant discussed that as she became interested in the growth mindset, there were not enough resources available through the school district, so she ventured out in search for her resources. The effort put into searching for outside resources signifies a desire to want to understand the growth mindset and utilize growth mindset practices in her

classroom. Table 4 shows the factors influencing classroom practice about which participant reported the influence.

Table 4

Factors Influencing Classroom Practice

Factors Influencing Classroom Practice	Participants who reported the factor as their primary influence
Books, videos, Ted Talks, professional developments	15742
Other teachers	12785, 32415, 15469, 13092
Students	75486

Mindset Behaviors

Some behaviors are characteristic of a fixed or growth mindset. In order to be able to change the mindset of the student, it is essential for the teacher to be able to recognize which mindset a student is currently exhibiting. Claro and Paunesku (2014) suggest that students from low socioeconomic backgrounds more often have a fixed mindset. The fixed mindset of the students could be due to several factors, but the relevance of this information to the current study is that this study took place in a Title I school where the report is that 98% of the student body is economically disadvantaged. The researcher asked the participants to describe what growth mindset behaviors and fixed mindset behaviors might look like in their classroom.

Growth mindset behaviors. Auten (2013) suggests that students with a growth mindset are more motivated to learn, put more effort into their work, and face difficulties with courage. One of the questions during the initial interview asked the participant what characteristics a student with a growth mindset might display. Five out of six participants reported inquiry as a characteristic of growth mindset behavior whether it be through asking questions (Participants

12785, 32415, and 15469) or through investigation or research (Participants 75486 and 15742). Participant 13092 reported persistence and a desire to improve as characteristics of a growth mindset stating:

Persistence like they would not give up they would keep trying. They might say I did not do very well this time, but next time I am going to get better. Or like some, I do not know how to do that yet.

Dweck (2009) discusses the power of the word "yet" and how the use of this word can build a student's confidence by reminding them that there is a possibility for growth and improvement.

The fixed mindset behaviors. Chase (2010) suggests that having a fixed mindset can cause students to avoid challenges, demonstrate a lack of effort, and be unable to accept constructive feedback. When asked what characteristics a student with a fixed mindset might display, all six participants reported disbelief in one's own ability as one of the characteristics.

Other examples that the participants provided included stubbornness, lack of effort, and a refusal to work. Participant 75486 noted that the fixed mindset had been built over time stating:

So there's, and this can be built or learned over a long period of time through what I think is probably a lack of exposure or lack of encouragement through growth mindset practices, they've learned, or they've internalized that this has always been challenging for me this is always been difficult so it must mean there's something about me that means I can't do it and as we know that's not necessarily true.

The responses to the question: "So what are some characteristics or behaviors that a student with a fixed mindset might display?" indicate that all six participants perceive that students come to middle school already believing that they lack the basic academic skills to be successful in school. Therefore classrooms should be willing to create an environment that encourages the

transformation of the student's beliefs about their potential for growth (Árnason, 2006; Auten, 2013; Sharma, 2015).

Follow-Up Interviews

The follow-up interviews took place after the six initial interviews were complete (see Appendix F). The follow up interview questions were different and structured with three main purposes in mind: (a) to explore the attitude of the participants and students in regards to growth mindset, (b) to determine which type of mindset, fixed or growth, the participants feel that it is more valuable to the academic success of students, and (c) to explore the general perceptions of the participants in terms of growth mindset and student motivation. A detailed discussion of the themes that emerged from the follow-up interview data is in the paragraphs that follow.

Attitudes about Growth Mindset

During the follow-up interviews, the researcher asked the participants if their attitude about growth mindset had changed during the study. The school and classroom culture must promote and exemplify growth mindset in order to effectively influence the mindset of the students (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Rhew, 2017; Yeager et al., 2016). When asked whether or not their attitudes about growth mindset had changed as a result of this study, participants 32415, 75486, 15469, 13092, and 15742 reported that their attitude toward growth mindset had not changed because they believed in it before and they still believe in it. For instance, Participant 75486 responded: "I still feel the same things that I said in the initial interview about growth mindset. I feel like it is effective. I still believe that." This response indicates that the participants already had a positive attitude toward growth mindset that remained positive throughout this study.

Participants 12785, 75486, 15742 reported that the initial interview brought more awareness to their classroom practices causing them to be more deliberate about the use of growth mindset strategies. Participant 15742 responded: "I mean I would say it has not necessarily changed as much as just become louder. It has turned the volume up a little bit." The perception of the participants was positive as they believed in the utilizing growth mindset practices; however, the study provided a reminder or refresher that rejuvenated their efforts toward promoting a growth mindset in their students.

There was one participant, 32415; however, who reported that his attitude about growth mindset had not changed but also reported that he did not think growth mindset was effective for some students, stating: "using mindset for some students just does not work well. Some of the students do not have the motivation to work." The perception that their motivation to work is not affected by growth mindset practices negates the idea that growth mindset improves motivation but supports that idea that teacher mindset plays an important role in the classroom environment and the mindset of the students. Although Participant 324145 has been using growth mindset practices for 11 years, the perception that the strategies will not work for some students may play a significant role in the lack of success in this participant's classroom.

Extrinsic Versus Intrinsic Motivation

As part of the follow-up interview, the researcher asked the participants which of the two types of motivation, extrinsic or intrinsic, they felt was most important. The researcher phrased the question this way because there are benefits to extrinsic and intrinsic motivation; however, when it comes to the success of students, perseverance comes from within. As a student's grade level increases, the number of extrinsic motivators offered often decreases. Students that are

more intrinsically motivated tend to perform better than students who rely on more extrinsic motivation (Corpus & Wormington, 2014).

Although all six participants indicated that extrinsic motivators are what currently drives the students, when asked which motivation intrinsic or extrinsic they felt was most important to the success of students, all participants responded that intrinsic motivation was most important to the success of the students. Participant 75486 stated:

I do think intrinsic is much more motivating, but it is also the hardest thing to affect as a teacher because that kind of comes from within so you have to find ways to get what you are saying to be internalized and get the results from there.

None of the participants reported teaching the students about their brains as one of the growth mindset strategies they use.

While it may be difficult to affect the intrinsic motivation of the students due to its internal nature, all participants discussed the importance of building more intrinsic motivation if students are going to be successful after middle school. During the questioning about student motivation during the initial and the follow-up interview participants 12785, 32415, and 75486 mentioned the location of the school as a factor of their low intrinsic motivation attributing the student's current level of motivation and mindset as low and fixed because of the environment they grew up in our past experiences in lower grades. The perception is that because of where the students live or the experiences the students faced in earlier grades, there was already a decrease in their motivation, and it is difficult to repair it.

Changes in Student Motivation

One of the best ways to determine whether the growth mindset strategies are working in terms of student motivation is for the teachers to be observant of any changes in the student's

behaviors and attitudes. A question in the follow-up interview asked participants: "Have you noticed any changes in student motivation? If so, what changes have you noticed? Can you provide a specific example of this?" This question did not necessarily mean that the short time between the initial and the follow-up interview would have been enough to bring about a real change in student motivation, but the questions in the initial interview had the possibility of bringing awareness to the student's behaviors and a renewed effort toward growth mindset strategies. The data from these questions provide additional insight into the perceptions of the teachers by examining whether or not they have observed any changes in student behavior as a result of growth mindset practices. Participant 12785, when asked how the use of growth mindset strategies used in class has increased since the initial interview, stated: "It is definitely increased, and I would say because you just opened my eyes to how often these kids say they cannot do something."

Similarly, Participant 75486 stated: "I would say overall I have not changed much the amount that I have used. If anything, it probably just made me a little bit more aware of using them so in that way maybe slightly increased my usage of growth mindset language or different things like that but in general, my overall approach has not changed I would say." The language used in class by both students and teachers impacts the motivation of the students. The perception here is that by transforming the negative talk of the students to a more positive language and by increasing the use of growth mindset language we use in the classroom the student's motivation to learn will increase.

There was an even split in response to whether or not the participants have noticed a change in the student's motivation since the initial interview. Participants 12785,

75486, and 15742 described changes they had seen in their students since the initial interview while participants 32415, 15469, and 13092 reported that they had not seen any change in student motivation since the initial interview. Table 5 shows changes in student motivation based on gender, content area, and grade level. According to Table 5, there does not appear to be any relationship between participants who noticed a change in student motivation and grade level, gender of the participant, or content taught by the participant because there was no observable pattern between the positive and negative responses. The lack of an observable pattern indicates that it does not depend on the grade level or the subject.

Table 5

Changes in Student Motivation

Participant Number	Gender	Content Area	Noticed Changes in Student
			Motivation
Participant 12785	M	8th grade Science	
	IVI		Yes
Participant 32415	M	6th grade Science	N
Doutininant 75.196		6th and Dading	No
Participant 75486	M	6th grade Reading	Yes
Participant 15469	F	8th grade Math	
-	1	-	No
Participant 15742	F	6th, 7th, and 8th grade Life	
	1	Skills	Yes
Participant 13092	T.	6th and 7th grade Social	
	F	Studies	No

Motivation and Academic Success

Dweck (2010) suggests that growth mindset practices can increase effort and motivation, more specifically, intrinsic motivation. There can be many challenges when working with students in a Title I school, but through growth mindset strategies the intrinsic motivation of students can be improved which will aid in closing the learning gaps and mirroring the achievement of students in a non-Title I school (Gutshall, 2013; Jensen, 2014; Ruiz, 2010). For

the follow-up interview, the researcher asked the participants if they thought the motivation was related to academic success. All six participants agreed that motivation is related to academic success. Two of the six participants went a step farther to note that there is a difference between academic success that comes naturally and academic success that comes as a result of effort.

Participant 75486 stated: "I definitely do think it can be linked for sure, but I think that there are some pitfalls to be aware of because if someone's showing quote unquote academic success if that's defined as you know to make straight A's, but they're not putting in the effort then what are they learning." Similarly, Participant 13092 stated: "I do. I do think it is because I think I do not know if this is going to sound bad or opposite, but I think that successful kids are motivated to try harder. But I also think I have seen kids who did really well like in a certain grade level or subject and then when it got harder because they never had to study it was just always easy and then when it got harder they had a difficult time dealing with that because it wasn't something they were accustomed to." Fegley (2010) suggests that academic achievement is not about an individual's innate ability but about the effort the individual put forth. Two participants also pointed out that academic success should not be measured by whether or not a student is passing but by the progress that student makes. Each step of growth must be recognized regardless of the size of the growth.

General Perceptions of Growth Mindset Practices

While the interview questions were carefully selected and structured in a way to promote rich conversations about growth mindset, there may have been some thoughts or ideas that the participants did not get to express. With this in mind, the final question of the follow-up interview allowed the participants the opportunity to express any other thoughts or ideas they had about growth mindset and student motivation that they did not have a chance to address in any of

the other initial or follow-up interview questions. All six participants chose to add final thoughts to the end of their interview. All participants except Participant 32415 expressed positive thoughts about growth mindset practices and its use in increasing student motivation; however, one of the six participants expressed his feelings that the growth mindset was not effective for some students. Participant 32415 stated: "I guess the only thing I would have to say is using mindset for some students just does not work well. Some of the students who just do not have the motivation to work."

It is also important to note that another participant (15742) expressed a desire to have more training that was designed particularly for the special population she teaches. There is a lot of different training available on a growth mindset. There have been several at the school chosen for the site of the study. There is also growth mindset training offered online through the school district. However, the training does not include classes offered that deal with growth mindset practices for specific populations such as Life Skills, low socioeconomic, at-risk students, or English Language Learners.

Focus Group

While NVivo12 was used to assist with the coding and analysis of the focus group data, the data was still analyzed apart from the initial and follow-up interviews due to the richness of the questions and the discussions that resulted from the focus group questions. If one or more of the participants were apprehensive about sharing their thoughts in the group setting, the option existed to complete the focus group questions as an open-ended questionnaire. Although all six participants had the option to answer the focus group questions as an open-ended questionnaire, all six participants expressed comfort at participating in the group and declined the offer.

The group took place during non-contractual hours in the facilitator's classroom. The desk was placed in a circle to promote collaboration and the equality of power (Claridge, 2004). The focus group lasted 32 minutes and provided an extra layer of richness to the data collected during the interviews. All six participants attempted to share during the discussion. The facilitator only spoke when necessary to keep the conversation moving or to move on to the next question (see Appendix G). The participants had copies of the questions to reference during their discussion. The sections that follow include a discussion of the themes that resulted from the analysis of the focus group data (See Table 3).

Using the Growth Mindset to Respond to Students

The question that started the discussion was, "If I were to spend a day in your classroom looking at growth mindset, what would I hear and see from you? What I hear and see from the students?" After a few moments of silence, the participants began to speak. The way that teachers respond to students was a theme that kept emerging during the focus group discussion, especially in the examples the participants provided. Several of the participants expressed during their interviews that just by participating in the study it made them more aware of the language they used with the kids and how they addressed the students who were facing challenges with their classwork. The focus group added layers of richness to the interview responses.

In regards to using growth mindset language when responding to students who are becoming discouraged Participant 15469 stated: "One of the things is how like I respond to students when they're often saying like oh I'm just dumb I don't understand this and trying to teach them to understand that it just means you have some more to learn and you don't understand yet, and that's why you're in school to learn and that we don't expect you to know everything. And to take each quiz as an opportunity to show what you know and then what you

need to learn over." The idea of language that emerged during the follow-up interview is repeated here during the focus group adding importance to the idea that the language used in the classroom by both the teacher and the student is important to creating a growth mindset environment.

Learning from one's mistakes and embracing opportunities for improvement is an integral part of growth mindset practices. One participant expressed his discouragement at the frequency of the negative responses students have toward each other. Participant 12785 stated: "It is sad I think as an educator it is more disappointing than anything when you hear another kid like oh mister do not tell him that he is still not gonna get it he is still not gonna do it. But I have heard that, and I have heard it frequently, and it gets me angry, and I am like dude do not say that. I am like first off do not even listen to him. But it is frequent I guess in our demographic because of their environment." The participants perceived that the negative language from other students also hurts the mindset and motivation of their peers. Again, the idea that the environment and demographics of the students emerge as a factor in their mindset and motivation.

While all participants discussed the power of using growth mindset-oriented responses when addressing the students, Participant 15469 stated: "A lot of the student's language is really negative, so it is really hard to combat and respond every time with something positive." Many of the participants expressed that most of the students had little to no belief in their abilities. Students referring to them as dumb came up frequently in the interviews and the focus group. Participant 75486 discussed how quickly students could become fixated on their inability to complete a task. He stated: "So you sat there watching everyone else raise their hand going I am done whereas you had an impossible task so very quickly you believed that you could not do it

and everyone else was better than you. And you learn that so fast and that is such a hard thing to unteach, and you know I mean to undo and to make that mindset change." Although the perceptions of the teachers on growth mindset practices and the impact those practices have on the student's motivation are positive, it is clear from the responses that the teachers feel the challenge of trying to change the perceptions of the students regarding their abilities.

Teachers working in Title I middle schools can develop a fixed mindset over time due to the experiences they have with the students. The constant negativity and unmotivated behaviors of the students can become an accepted norm, so the teachers will lower their standards because they feel as though the students cannot do any better. During this focus group, Participant 15742 discussed the importance of personal reflection. Looking back at one's practices and behaviors can allow an individual to make the necessary adjustments to bring about the best possible outcome. Personal reflection can prevent teachers from developing this fixed mindset over time.

Embracing Failure

Failure is something that comes to everyone at some point and time in their life. Students who are not taught to embrace failure and use it as an opportunity for improvement can be destroyed by it. Constant failure can cause students to give up because they no longer see the point in trying. When discussing failure Participant 75486 stated: "You learn that so fast and that is such a hard thing to unteach, and you know what I mean to undo and to make that mindset change."

In response to the question: "How, if at all, do you encourage students to face challenges and take risks even when failure is a possibility?" all participants answered in a way that indicated a positive attitude toward embracing failure. Participant 32415 discussed the process of giving the students in his class a problem that had built in discrepancies. "When the students

become frustrated with the fact that the calculations in the problem do not come out correctly, I point out to the students that science is about trial and error. Failure is a part of the investigation." Participant 75486 discussed how important it is for students to be able to explain their thought processes even if the answers cannot be proven because it teaches the students to take risks even if failure is a possibility.

Participant 15469 said that failure is encouraged in her classroom because as students answer questions, even if they are completely wrong, the participant points out the correct aspects of the answer. When there are no correct aspects to the answer, she thanks them for the effort they put into answering the questions then asks others to help the student correctly answer the question. As students take risks, they are going to hit some bumps along the path to success; however, teaching students to embrace and learn from those failures encourages growth mindset thinking and perseverance.

Celebrating Improvement Great and Small

The participants were asked, "How do you maintain a growth mindset in a student who is struggling and is not seeing the academic results they desire?" In response to this question, the participants discussed how they allow the students to track and measure their progress and embrace all growth big or small. The participants discussed their success in using data trackers and journals as a way to show students their progress over time. Participant 75486 stated: "We have done a thing this year in our class of a daily assignment that's the same since the beginning of school. Those are dated, so it is like if the kids are struggling at the moment, I will flip back two months ago. Look what you wrote on this day and look how much you wrote. Look at this. Like you really improved." The participants perceived that observing one's own success is instrumental in encouraging to continue to work hard.

Making growth attainable requires that the goals set for the students are something that they understand and have the potential of reaching. Participant 15742 suggested breaking the content down in a way that gives the students smaller goals that are attainable for them. If goals are set too high for the students to reach, then they may become frustrated and give up before making any progress at all. However, if goals are set in smaller chunks every time a student reaches those goals, they will be more motivated and driven to continue their efforts toward learning. Participant 15742 stated: "So like identifying the specific skills that the students have gained then identifying goals. That way, it is something more attainable for them. Instead of them saying, "I failed all of this," it is more like "I failed this thing, but I passed these things, so that is nice."

Participant 13092 discussed a student who at the beginning of the year, could not find more than two words on a word search in a 45-minute class period. However, by encouraging the student to be okay with the two words he found and continue to build on that, the student can now complete half of the word search in a 45-minute class period. This success carried over from the word search to the student taking pride in other assignments he had completed. Celebrating the smaller victories can increase student effort, improve their motivation, and can lead them toward the larger victories. The participants feel that small victories are more valuable than the larger victories because they are easier and faster to obtain, making it easier for teachers to keep the students focused and motivated.

Teacher Mindset

The final question of the focus group asked if there were any other thoughts or ideas the participants would like to share with the group. Four of the six participants were eager to share their final thoughts. The thoughts of the participants covered most of the topics that came up

during the group discussion. Participant 75486 revisited intrinsic and extrinsic motivation by pointing out that there cannot be just intrinsic or extrinsic motivators. There must be a mix of the two because in life there are always going to be extrinsic motivators present. Using growth mindset strategies to improve the intrinsic motivation of students is not a movement to get rid of all extrinsic motivators but instead is a strategy to use conjunction with extrinsic motivators as a scaffold to teaching students how to be more self-reliant.

Dweck (2009) suggests that teaching students about their brain can be empowering. Some students are just not aware that their brain can stretch and expand. Brainology is a computer-based program that some schools have used as an intervention to teach students about their brains and their ability to expand what they know. Only one participant mentioned teaching students about their brains. Participant 15469 suggested that it would be useful to teach students about their minds and begin using growth mindset strategies earlier in their education in order to build intrinsic motivation more effectively.

During the focus group, almost all of the participants said that by just being a part of the study, they have become more aware of the language they use in class as well as the number of negative comments they hear in a day from students. Participant 12785 expressed gratitude for being a part of the study and how the study had improved his mindset, his language in class, and the way he reacts to challenging students. He also stated how his classroom management and attitude during the day had changed as a result of his renewed attention to and more deliberate use of growth mindset practices.

Self-reflection is an important strategy for people to use in any aspect of their lives; however, for teachers, self-reflection can change classroom practices, transform presuppositions, and change the perceptions of difficult students. Participant 15472 discussed the benefit of self-

reflection as a way to ensure teachers remain in touch with their growth mindset and can thereby aid in relationship building with the students. Participant 15472 stated: "

I would say to be an effective growth mindset instructor which I do not do this just for the record, but I think it requires being a reflective educator and your own ability to have growth mindset toward yourself, your practice, your profession. So, like, for example, if I do not know how to build a relationship with a student that I feel like I should and today there was a minor breakthrough it is important to be like that was me. Have I fully succeeded? Does the student wake up every morning eager to see my face? Nope. But have I made a step towards building a relationship that could result in the student having more buy-in in the classroom? So, I think Part of a growth mindset for it to work fully in a school or in a classroom would require a level of reflection.

Relationship building did not come up any other time during the interview or focus group discussion, however in analyzing the examples the participants provided; relationship building seems to be a benefit of growth mindset language because it improves student-teacher interactions. Participant 75486 then circled back to the discussion of failure and provided another example of how quickly students' mindsets can become fixed due to external influences. The point of this example he explained is to bring awareness to the fact that one's classroom practices can be detrimental to the mindsets of the students if not carefully thought out and executed.

Chapter 4 Summary

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the perceptions of teachers in a Title I middle school that use growth mindset practices in the classroom about how those practices impact the intrinsic motivation of the students. Described in this chapter were the significant findings of this study. An initial interview, a follow-up interview, and a focus group

were used to collect data. The data was transcribed then analyzed for the major themes. The analysis yielded five themes each from the initial and follow-up interviews and four themes from the focus group.

The results from the data indicated that the five of the six participants have a positive perception of growth mindset practices in the classroom and do believe that it is useful for increasing the intrinsic motivation of the students. Also, five of the six participants reported a renewal in their growth mindset thinking as a result of participating in this study and that because of their heightened awareness, they altered their classroom language and practices. Through the minor adjustments the teachers made to their growth mindset language and classroom practices, they reported a positive shift in both their attitude and the attitudes of the students.

While some of the participants felt that professional development courses were essential to fostering an environment that promotes a growth mindset in teachers and students, several of the participants felt that it was their peers that had the most significant influence on their growth mindset and the implementation of growth mindset practices in the classroom. Chapter 5 will include an introduction, summary, and discussion of the results about how they fit with the research question and the literature, limitations to the study and recommendations for future research.

Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion

Introduction

The workforce is becoming more competitive. Many employers are seeking applicants who have not only have a high school diploma but some license, permit, or degree. While there are reports that the dropout rates across the country are decreasing there are still a significant number of students who do not complete high school (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017). There are also students who manage to complete high school but drop out within their first year of college (Selingo, 2018). One of the factors contributing to the student's inability to complete high school or college is their lack of intrinsic motivation.

As students increase in grade level, their motivation decreases. Therefore, middle school teachers need the tools to help students not only retain student motivation but to increase it so that it will sustain the students throughout high school and beyond. Intrinsic motivation influences a student's desire to learn. Students who are intrinsically motivated are driven to accomplish the task and reach goals not for some external reward but for the internal satisfaction they get from their success. One way to increase the intrinsic motivation of students is through growth mindset practices (Becker, 2012; Bedford, 2017; Black & Allen, 2017; Claro & Paunesku, 2014; Gutshall, 2013; Hochanadel & Finamore, 2015; Seaton, 2017).

The purpose of this case study was to explore the perceptions of teachers in a Title I middle school who use growth mindset practices in their classrooms about the impact these practices have on the intrinsic motivation of the students. This chapter includes a summary and a discussion of the results of this study. The chapter will also include a discussion of the results of the literature review presented in Chapter 2. Limitations of the study, implications of the results

for practice, policy, and theory, and recommendations for further research also appear in this chapter.

Summary of the Results

The researcher conducted an exploratory case study in an urban school district in the Southern part of the United States. The site chosen for this study was a Title I middle school. All 52 teachers that are employed by the school received an invitation to participate. The criteria for being a participant in this study was that the teachers (a) teach sixth, seventh, or eighth grade; (b) teach in the Title I middle school where the study will take place, and (c) use growth mindset strategies in their classroom. Seven teachers responded to the invitation, with six chosen to be participants. The six teachers chosen for this study participated in an initial interview, a follow-up interview, and a focus group. The research question guided this study:

How do the perceptions of Title I middle school teachers as it relates to the use of growth mindset strategies in the classroom impact the intrinsic motivation of students?

The data from the interviews and the focus group were coded using NVivo 12, a qualitative analysis program. The program was used to create codes in which to sort the data and look for common themes and patterns. Themes were created using the research question and the conceptual framework as a point of reference.

The participants shared many examples of their experiences with the student's self-efficacy and the general mindset. They also shared their frustrations at the lack of motivation that the students have and the lack of belief the students have of their ability to learn. The data revealed that the teachers all have to some degree, a belief in growth mindset practices.

However, not all participants agreed that growth mindset was effective in increasing the intrinsic motivation of the students. Four of the participants stated that they feel the student's intrinsic

motivation would be increased with the use of growth mindset strategies and reported already seeing the results of these practices. One participant stated that the growth mindset strategies would be more effective if they were used starting in earlier grades and 1 participant stated that he did not feel that growth mindset was an effective strategy and did not work for some students.

Although all participants had some training or previous experience with a growth mindset, the need for more specific training was also something that the participants stated was needed. There are training opportunities available for growth mindset practices, but the participants stated that they were not always relevant for the students in Title I schools or for special populations such as Life Skills or English Language Learners. The conceptual framework, more specifically, the growth mindset theory and the theory of motivation, played an essential role in the development of the research question. The research question played a role in the development of the interview and focus group questions. A discussion of the results in greater detail appears in the next section.

Discussion of the Results

The results of the data were consistent among all six participants in the area of the usefulness of growth mindset strategies in the classroom and were consistent with five of the six participants in the area of the impact growth mindset has on the intrinsic motivation of the students. The research question for this study was designed to examine the perceptions of teachers who use growth mindset practices in their classrooms and how they feel those practices impact the intrinsic motivation of students in a Title I middle school. The data were analyzed to answer this question. To address every aspect of the research question, the data were examined to determine the teacher's mindsets for growth mindset practices in the classroom first then

examined to determine their perceptions of the impact those practices have on the intrinsic motivation of the students.

Teacher's Perceptions of Growth Mindset Practices

The participants were eager to share their experiences and perceptions of students with a fixed and growth mindset. All six participants had a positive attitude toward growth mindset practices. Although one participant felt that the practices did not work on the motivation of some students, he reported using growth mindset practices in his occupation before becoming a teacher, in his personal life and continues to use the practices with his students.

When asked about their perceptions of growth mindset and whether or not the study had any impact on this perception all participants stated that there was no change in their perception of growth mindset because they already believed in it and felt that it was important. It is important to note though that three of the six participants stated that while they have always felt growth mindset practices were effective and important for the success of the students, by merely participating in the study they had a renewed determination to use those practices more consistently. Participant 75486 stated:

I feel like I still feel the same things that I said in the initial interview about growth mindset. I feel like it is effective. I still believe that. If anything, you know it has strengthened my views, and you know basically kept consistent with what I said before. If administrators or team leads would revisit growth mindset practices and share strategies in meetings or professional development settings. Revisiting growth mindset would go a long way to improving the use of these practices in the classroom.

While all six participants perceived growth mindset practices to be useful in the classroom, one participant reported needing help to understand how to use these practices with

the special population she teaches. She is in charge of the life skills unit and expressed disappointment that there are few no training programs offered to improve the mindset and self-efficacy of the students in her unit. Five of the six participants reported having a desire to be better at using growth mindset practices in the classroom and having the opportunity actually to teach the students about how their brains work.

The follow-up interview allowed the participants to discuss a growth mindset and motivation in more detail than the initial interview. At the end of the follow-up interview, the participants had the opportunity to add any final thoughts on growth mindset or motivation that the interview questions did not cover. Participant 75486 discussed in his final thoughts that growth mindset was not only something that should "be taught to the students but should also be taught to the teachers." Teacher mindset is a major influence of the classroom culture. Teachers not only should believe in their student's ability to improve their intelligence; they must also believe in their own ability to grow and improve continuously. Participant 75486 stated:

I think you know, and that comes back to practicing what you preach. If you truly believe what you're telling these students then yes you have already internalized that that is going to pay off for you as well. I think that is the most effective way to go about it.

The struggles that teachers in Title I schools face can not only influence their mindset but also their motivation. The teacher's perception of the impact of the growth mindset on motivation appears in the section that follows.

Teacher's Perceptions of the Impact of Growth Mindset on Motivation

All six participants reported a positive perception of the growth mindset, but not all participants agreed that growth mindset was effective for increasing the intrinsic motivation of

the students. Participant 32415 reported feeling that growth mindset practices did not affect student motivation because it just did not work for them. This participant has been teaching for more than 14 years, 13 of which have been in a Title I school. The length of time this participant has spent in Title I schools and the challenges he may have faced during this time could have had some impact on the participant's mindset and level of motivation. It is important to note though that there is another participant who has been teaching for more than 14 years, all 14 of those years being in a Title I school and her perception of the impact of growth mindset practices on student motivation was positive.

While five of the six participants had positive perceptions of the impact of growth mindset practice on student motivation, the results were split down the middle when asking the participants if they had noticed a change in student motivation throughout the study. Three of the participants reporting that they noticed a change in student motivation, but three of the participants said they did not notice any change in student motivation. The results could be due to the short amount of time between interviews. There is no relation between years of teaching service and whether or not the participant noticed a change in student motivation. There was also no relationship between gender or subject taught and whether or not the participant noticed a change in student motivation.

Participant 15742 reported that she currently uses extrinsic motivation most of the time because she does not know how to move away toward a better balance of extrinsic and intrinsic motivations. Her desire to want this training still shows that she believes in growth mindset practices and feels that they are useful in the classroom but needs more guidance to implement the practices. When asked what type of motivation her students currently exhibit, she stated:

I have not figured out how to get more into the intrinsic, but I think my higher

functioning students being again in life skills they could be more intrinsically you know like oh wow like you learned all these things that are pretty impressive, or you know things like that so it just depends on the student.

This study did not set out to make readers think that extrinsic motivation is a bad thing or to remove extrinsic motivators from their classrooms altogether. Extrinsic motivation has its purpose in classrooms, businesses, and personal lives. However, extrinsic motivators produce only short-term effects, and when the reward or threat of punishment is gone, the motivation leaves with it. If educators in Title I middle schools are going to be successful in preparing students to persevere through high school and beyond, the students will need to be able to continue in the absence of extrinsic motivators which means they will need to have a higher level of intrinsic motivation. Participant 12785 discussed the need to have a healthy balance between intrinsic and extrinsic motivation:

Yeah, I was glad that you solidified the idea of extrinsic and intrinsic because when you see it done in the classroom like okay well maybe today I am not going to give them candy. You know you start to realize OK I've got to balance this. It cannot just be all candy all the time. And I think that helps them be intrinsically motivated.

According to the results of the data, the conclusion can be made that there is a positive perception of growth mindset strategies in the classroom and the impact of those strategies on the intrinsic motivation of the students. This section discussed the results of the research question.

The section that follows will discuss the results of the literature.

Discussion of the Results in Relation to the Literature

The literature has revealed that growth mindset does influence intrinsic motivation (Dweck, 2010). The findings from this study support the literature on growth mindset and

motivation. Brysacz (2017) suggests that students with low intrinsic motivation have difficulty finishing high school. Growth mindset practices can encourage students to embrace failure and take risks. Teachers who create classroom environments that encourage risk-taking and critical thinking have reported higher levels of intrinsic motivation in their students (Jensen, 2014; Kiefer, Ellerbrock, & Alley, 2015). Teachers in Title I middle schools have a difficult time getting students to embrace failure and take risks. Therefore, teachers in Title I middle schools must find effective strategies for improving the intrinsic motivation of the students (Bedford, 2017; Gutshall, 2013; Jensen, 2014; Ruiz, 2010). It is essential not only to implement a program or a strategy in schools but to gain an understanding of the teacher's perceptions of the strategies or programs. The findings of the study support the literature as the participants in this study discussed the strategies used in their classrooms that would increase the intrinsic motivation of the students.

Embracing mistakes and taking risks are essential to learning and can be developed through growth mindset strategies (Davis, 2017; Dweck, 2015; Hayward, 2015; O'Brien et al., 2015). Participant 15469 said "I think some students are just sick of failing so they stop trying." Participant 13092 also suggested that once students get to middle school they have failed so much that they are afraid to try for fear that it will just be another failure. The findings in this study support the literature as the participants expressed the idea that teaching the students to value mistakes is essential for learning. All six participants agreed that there are lessons to be learned from failure.

Building relationships with students is an essential part of creating a safe, supportive classroom culture. Muñoz et al. (2013) did not conduct a study on the growth mindset but did, however, conduct a study on the effectiveness of teachers. The research found that more

effective teachers focused on meeting the basic needs of the students and not just focused on the content they were teaching. Participant 15742 was the only participant to discuss relationship building about growth mindset practices and motivation. The findings of this study did not necessarily negate the idea of meeting the student's basic needs in order to be a more effective teacher, but the participants did support the literature in a sense that all participants discussed strategies that satisfied the student's need for praise and encouragement.

Other literature that is supported by the data is Dweck's (2009) suggestion that praise when used correctly can be influential to increasing a student's motivation to learn. Participant 32415 gave an example of a student that was failing but after working to improve her grade noticed the drastic increase due to her effort. The participant said, "I pulled her to the side and told her do you see what will happen if you just try." The participant reported that the student's effort and eagerness to learn improved greatly as a result of her experience.

According to research conducted by Claro and Paunesku (2014), students from low SES groups have more of a fixed mindset than their peers. The data from the current study support the researcher's conclusion because all six participants discussed the challenges they have faced in addressing and changing the fixed mindset of the students. Research has found that teacher mindset is an essential aspect of influencing student mindset (Kiefer et al., 2015). The results of the data were as anticipated based on previous studies about this topic. The current study differed from the previous research in that it focused not on a specific grade level or subject (Antweil, n.d.; Árnason, 2006; Bedford, 2017). It also did not rely on quantitative data, such as grades or test results (Schmidt et al., 2015). The current study focused on the perception of teachers in a Title I middle school, which adds to the body of research on growth mindset and motivation. The findings of the current study support the conceptual framework used as a basis for this study.

In contrast to the findings of this study Dixson et al. (2017) conducted a study on high achieving African American students from low socioeconomic backgrounds and concluded that mindset had little to no effect on their academic achievement. The students attending the school where the study was conducted were in general not high achieving. This could account for the difference between the findings of this study and the findings from Dixon et al.'s (2017) study. The participants in the current study all reported frustration at the lack of motivation and effort from the majority of their students.

Helping students develop a growth mindset not only can improve their performance in the classroom but can also improve other areas of their lives (Davis, 2017; Dweck, 2009). Participants 12785 and 32415 discussed the value of using growth mindset practices when coaching various sports. The participants discussed how growth mindset language encouraged the athletes to push beyond their conceived capacities in order to be successful. This finding supports the idea that growth mindset practices can not only influence classroom performance but performances in sports and music as well (Davis, 2017; Dweck, 2009).

Limitations

This section discusses the limitations of the research design. One way this study may improve is by extending the time between the interviews and the focus group. Allowing more time for the participants to focus on the growth mindset practices and observe student behaviors would make the data more reliable. The initial interviews could take place at the beginning of the school year with the follow-up interview and focus group happening at the end of the school year.

Another limitation of this study is that it took place with a small sample of six participants and conducted in only one Title I middle school. A researcher could restructure and

expand this study to include multiple Title I schools throughout the district, and the number of participants increased. Expanding the study to multiple middle schools could add to the richness of the data and would improve the generalizability of the data to Title I schools.

This study may be possibly examined further via a mixed methods study, and the students can be surveyed at the beginning of the study and then again at the end. Conducting a mixed methods study would allow the researcher to draw more accurate conclusions about the motivation of the students from the students themselves and not rely solely on the perceptions of the teachers. Replication of this study using a mixed method approach could include a control group would also help identify changes in student motivation as a result of growth mindset practices versus changes in student motivation in the absence of growth mindset practices.

Implications of the Results for Practice, Policy, and Theory

This case study explored the perceptions of teachers in a Title I middle school about growth mindset practices and the effects of those practices on the intrinsic motivation of the students. The findings of this study can influence practice, policy, and theory. The implications of the results appear in the paragraphs that follow.

Practice

Intrinsic motivation can be indicative of academic achievement (Bedford, 2017).

According to Dweck (2010), one way to increase intrinsic motivation is through growth mindset practices. There are things that teachers' administrators and students should do in order to obtain the most significant benefit from the growth mindset practices. In this study, the teacher's perception of growth mindset strategies and the impact of those strategies on the intrinsic motivation of the students were positive, which supports the previous research on this topic.

Teachers. In order for teachers to be able to transform the mindset of the students effectively, they must first not only understand growth and fixed mindset but must also self-assess to understand which mindset they possess. It is possible for an individual to have a fixed mindset, which is when the individual has a fixed mindset about some things but a growth mindset about other things. Teachers must be able to recognize their fixed mindsets in order to address these areas. Teacher mindset can have a positive or negative impact on the student. Once the teachers understand their mindsets, they must work to create an environment that fosters a growth mindset in their students. Environments that foster a growth mindset are useful for increasing the intrinsic motivation of the students, thereby providing them with the tools to persevere in the face of challenges and accomplish goals.

Administrators. Although this study focused on the perceptions of teachers, administrators still have a role to play in creating a climate and culture that fosters growth mindset practices throughout the school. Some of the participants in this study expressed a desire for more training on strategies that can be used to improve the growth mindset and motivation of the students. Administrators should provide support for teachers, such as professional developments or classroom modeling, to help teachers understand how to implement growth mindset practices properly. When creating the non-negotiables and campus goals for the school year, administrators should include growth mindset practices. Ironically, including growth mindset practices as something administrators will look for during observations is an extrinsic motivator; it will encourage teachers to implement these practices with fidelity. The administrators set the stage for the climate and culture of the school, and by ensuring that the work environment is set up to encourage the growth mindset of the teachers, this climate and culture may filter down to the climate and culture of the student body.

Students. Like administrators, students were not participants in this study. However, the results may have implications as it relates to how students respond to the growth mindset practices. The participants reported that the school climate and culture of the student body is harmful and indicative of a fixed mindset. In general, the student's attitudes and behaviors demonstrate a lack of belief in their ability to improve. While these negative behaviors can be frustrating to the teachers, the participants expressed a genuine desire to want to change the mindset of the students. Students may benefit from lessons about their minds and the potential their minds have for growth as a result of their effort. The students may also benefit from learning the benefits of mistakes, and that failure is a part of the pathway to success. The participants reported the benefits of students tracking their data and reflecting on their improvement over time. Three of the six participants reported an improvement in student motivation as a result of the students tracking their data.

Policy

Policies can change at the school and district level to ensure that teachers are using growth mindset practices in all schools and at all levels. One of the participants in this study stated that growth mindset practices were useful and essential for the academic success of the student but would be more important if perhaps growth mindset strategies "were implemented in earlier grades." The policy must also include ways to monitor teacher's perceptions and assess the needs of teachers in individual schools. The participants in this study discussed the need for training for the specific demographic of the school and the special populations the school serves.

Teacher accountability. In the school district where this study occurred, teachers receive two formal observations a year and can receive an unlimited number of walkthroughs. Policy changed can be made at the school or district level to include growth mindset practices as one of

the domains required for a successful observation. This change in policy will encourage teachers actually to use the practices. Reminders during department or staff meetings can serve as a support of reminder for teachers. During collaborative meetings, grade levels or departments can share experiences and ideas that will inform the growth mindset practices in the classroom. Participants in this study expressed gratitude for the study because it reminded them of the value of growth mindset practices and helped them regain focus in implementing the strategies in the class. Feedback from observations, either formal or informal, will hold the teachers accountable for ensuring they are incorporating growth mindset strategies in their curriculum.

School accountability. Teachers are not the only ones who are rated or observed during the school year. Schools are observed and rated by the school district and their state's education agency. The policy can be changed to include plans given to schools to assist with the implementation of growth mindset practices. For low performing schools that on an improvement plan, the district or governing agency can add a growth mindset as part of the plan. Like individual schools, the district can include a growth mindset as part of their mission statement. The district can form a support team, or the school district could assign members of the team to various schools within the district that they must visit and provide the necessary supports needed to implement growth mindset practices throughout the school.

Theory

The conceptual framework for this study is the growth mindset theory and the theory of motivation. The researcher chose these theories because of the relation to the topic of this study and the previous research. The research questions, interview questions, and focus group questions were chosen and developed with the conceptual framework in mind. The results of this study support these theories.

Growth mindset. Dweck (2010) suggests that students that have negative stereotypes associated with their characteristics such as socioeconomic status, ethnicity, or gender tend to develop a fixed mindset over time due to the experiences they encounter. This study was conducted in a Title I middle school that serves over 95% African American and Hispanic students. All six participants reported that most of their students currently exhibit a fixed mindset. Most of the participants discussed the lack of belief the students have in their abilities. Using growth mindset practices in the classroom, teachers can change the way these students and other students throughout the school district view themselves and their potential to learn.

Motivation. Motivation is the driving force behind an individual completing a task or accomplishing a goal. The offer of some reward or threat of punishment may motivate some individuals however Harry F Harlow discovered during an experiment with monkeys in 1949 that the monkeys completed a puzzle, not for the reward that but for the satisfaction they received from completing the puzzle (Bowman, 2011). Intrinsic motivation is the term used to refer to this phenomenon. The participants discussed that extrinsic motivation worked for adults and children alike but was not enough to give students the ability to maintain their momentum once the reward or threat of punishment was not a mitigating factor in their behavioral or academic success. Because intrinsic motivation comes from within, it provides a more long-term benefit. With intrinsic motivation, students will be successful even in the absences or rewards or punishments. The participants discussed during their interviews how difficult it is to increase the amount of intrinsic motivation in students or to move away from extrinsic motivators but did understand the necessity of it. One participant stated that there needs to be a balance of intrinsic and extrinsic because this balance would more closely represent what the students will see in high school, college, and the workforce.

Recommendations for Further Research

Based on the reflection of the research methods for this study and the findings of the study, several recommendations for future research have emerged. This study focused on teachers in Title I middle schools because there has been limited research that focuses on these particular teachers and their perceptions of growth mindset practices. However, further research can be done that would expand the population of the study to include non-Title I teachers and then perform a comparison between the perceptions of the teachers. The research questions can also be adapted to question if the teachers think their perceptions would be different if they taught in one type of school or the other. The adaptation of the questions will help identify the presuppositions that teachers may have about Title I and non-Title I schools.

The results of this study served as a basis for many other questions about teaching and learning in a Title I school. After the documentation of the perceptions of teachers, an extension of this study would be to document the perceptions of the students with a focus on the causes of their lack of intrinsic motivation. By understanding where this lack of belief in their abilities and lack of motivation first began, school districts can change policies to address the root causes. Another way to build on this research would be to identify students who at one point, had a fixed mindset and document the factors that contributed to their transformation.

The Title I school chosen as the site for the current study is currently low performing.

The teachers in a high performing Title I school in the same district could also be included as participants in this study and the perceptions of the teachers in each school can be compared for commonalities and differences in practices, perceptions about growth mindset, and attitudes about the students and their abilities. This extension of the current study could provide information that will inform training programs and school practices.

School culture has great influence on classroom culture. The culture of the school affects the attitudes of the administration, teachers, and students. The current study can be extended to examine the perceptions of the administrators, teachers, and students about whether or not their school has a growth mindset culture and if not, what can be done to change it.

Lastly, researchers can include teachers in Title I elementary schools as participants.

Therefore, there can be a comparison between the perceptions of elementary teachers and middle school teachers. Also, the questions can be adapted to gain a better understanding of what the teachers see at the elementary level and how what they observe from students changes by the time they get to middle school. On a larger scale, all schools in a school district could participate in the study. The data could be analyzed to see if there is any correlation between school performance and the perception of growth mindset practices about student motivation.

Conclusion

The case study explored the perceptions of teachers in a Title I middle school regarding growth mindset practices in the classroom and the impact those practices have on the intrinsic motivation of the students. This chapter focused on the results, the discussion of the results as related to the literature, the limitations of the study, the implications of the study on practice, policy and theory, and recommendations for future research.

The study was conducted at one Title I middle school in a moderately sized school district. Participants expressed a positive attitude about growth mindset practices in the classroom and felt it would have a positive impact on the intrinsic motivation of the students. However, the participants also expressed a desire to have more support and training on implementing growth mindset practices in a way that is more relevant to the population of the school. All participants reported that they would continue to use growth mindset practices in the

classroom. Two participants shared that they would like to spend more time teaching the students about the way their brain works and the types of motivation.

Despite the small sample size, the participants were representative of the faculty of the school. The findings support the conceptual framework. The finding of this study supported previous studies on growth mindset and motivation. Triangulation of the data occurred through the use of an initial interview, follow-up interview, and a focus group. The coding and analysis of the data have shown that the teachers in the Title I middle school have a positive perception of the use of growth mindset practices in the classroom and all but one participant feels that those practices will have an impact on the intrinsic motivation of the students. Four of the four participants feel that peer collaboration is the most significant source of support for implementing growth mindset practices in the classroom. Several themes emerged from the coding and analysis of the data, including mindset, motivation, failure, and celebrating success. The themes aligned with the prior research.

By the end of the study, participants expressed a renewed focus on the growth mindset practices in their classrooms as well as a focus on their mindset. The participants noticed that as a result of their renewed focus, the students were responding positively to the practices.

Participants reported that reluctant learners were more motivated and confident and that the students seem to be improving, which was evident by their class participation and efforts toward seeking help during and outside or regular class times.

Prior research indicated that there is a relationship between a growth mindset and motivation. Research also attributes perseverance and risk-taking to the level of intrinsic motivation a student has. The results of this study support the research. Teachers must understand the mindset and motivation in order to effectively influence the mindset and

motivation of the students. The results of this case study will help administrators plan professional development days and create vision statements that will reflect growth mindset strategies.

References

- Antweil, H. S. (n.d.). Creating Intrinsic Motivation to Read in Middle School ... Retrieved from http://www.fortbendisd.com/cms/lib09/TX01917858/Centricity/Domain/71/Action Research/Creating Intrinsic Motivation to Read in Middle School Students.pdf
- Árnason, A. E. (2006). *Encouraging intrinsic motivation in the middle school reading* classroom. Retrieved from https://skemman.is/bitstream/1946/544/1/encouraging.pdf
- Auten, M. A. (2013). Helping educators foster a growth mindset in community college

 Classrooms Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/
 dissertations/1073/
- Baldridge, M. C. (2010). The effects of a growth mindset intervention on the beliefs about intelligence, effort beliefs, achievement goal orientations, and academic self-efficacy of LD students with reading difficulties Available from ERIC. (964179295; ED525951).

 Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/964179295?accountid=10248
- Barnes, N., & Fives, H. (2016). Creating a context for growth-focused assessment. *Middle School Journal*, 47(5), 30–37. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1895979441?accountid=10248
- Barrett, J. (2007). The researcher as instrument: learning to conduct qualitative research through analyzing and interpreting a choral rehearsal. *Music Education Research*, 9(3), 417–433, DOI: 10.1080/14613800701587795
- Baskarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *The Qualitative Report, 19*(40), 1–18. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol19/iss40/3
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and

- implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, *13*(4), 544–559. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol13/iss4/2
- Becker, J. D. (2012). AVID students' perceptions of intelligence: A mixed-methods study.

 (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database. (UMI No. 3510362)
- Becker, B. E., & Luthar, S. S. (2002). Social–emotional factors affecting achievement outcomes among disadvantaged students: closing the achievement gap. *Educational Psychologist*, *37*(4), 197–214. http://doi.org/10.1207/S15326985EP3704_1
- Bedford, S. (2017). Growth mindset and motivation: A study into secondary school science learning. *Research Papers in Education*, 32(4), 424–443. https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2017.1318809
- Bindreiff, D. (2016). Mindsets impact perceptions of student behavior. Retrieved from http://blog.mindsetworks.com/entry/behavior-is-learned
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Black, S., & Allen, J. D. (2017). Part 2: Goals, mindset, and self-regulation. *Reference Librarian*, 58(2), 159–173. https://doi.org/10.1080/02763877.2016.1221787
- Blackwell, L. S., Trzesniewski, K. H., & Dweck, C. S. (2007). Implicit theories of intelligence predict achievement across an adolescent transition: A longitudinal study and an intervention. *Child Development*, 78(1), 246–263. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/62027929? accountid=10248

- Blazer, C. (2011). How students' beliefs about their intelligence influence their academic performance. *Information Capsule Research Services*. 1012, 1–7.
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research, *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 19(4), 426–432, Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Bowman, R. (2011). Rethinking what motivates and inspires students. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues, and Ideas*, 84(6), 264–269. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2011.592164
- Brysacz, L. M. (2017). Ready, set, succeed! Growth mindset instruction in a community college success class. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. Arizona State University. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/docview/1904515790? accountid=10673 http://openurl.ac.uk/redirect/athens: edu/?url_ver=Z39.88-2004&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx: dissertation&genre=dissertations+%26+theses&sid=ProQ:ProQuest+Dissertations+%26+Theses+Global&ati
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2017). Occupations typically requiring postsecondary education gained 5.3 million jobs, May 2007–16. Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2017/occupations-typically-requiring-postsecondary-education-gained-5-3-million-jobs-may-2007-16.htm?view_full
- Burmeister, E., & Aitken, L. M. (2012). Sample size: How many is enough? *Australian Critical Care*, 25, 271–274. doi:10.1016/j.aucc.2012.07.002
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811–830. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/

- docview/1806967398?accountid=10248
- Chase, M. A. (2010). Should coaches believe in innate ability? The importance of leadership mindset. *Quest*, 62(3), 296–307. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2010.10483650
- Cherry, K. (2017). *What is replication in psychology research?* Retrieved from https://www.verywellmind.com/what-is-replication-2795802
- Claridge, T. (2004). Designing social capital sensitive participation methodologies. *Journal of Conflict resolution*, 580–600.
- Claro, S., & Loeb, S. (2017). New evidence that students' beliefs about their brains drive learning. Retrieved from https://www.brookings.edu/research/new-evidence-that-students-beliefs-about-their-brains-drive-learning/
- Claro, S., & Paunesku, D. (2014). Mindset gap among SES groups: The case of Chile with census data. *Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness*. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=growth+mindset&ff1=subGender+Differences&ff2=subCognitive+Structures&id=ED562769
- Clinkenbeard, P. R. (2012). Motivation and gifted students: Implications of theory and research.

 *Psychology in the Schools, 49(7), 622–630.
- Corpus, J. H., & Wormington, S. V. (2014). Profiles of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations in elementary school: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 82(4), 480–501. doi:http://dx.doi.org.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/00220973.2013.876225
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Creswell, J. W. (2015). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. New York, NY: Pearson.
- Davis, A., & Forbes, L. (2016). Doing the impossible: Motivating middle school students.

 *Voices from the Middle, 23(4), 14–18. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/
 login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1788221407?

 accountid=10248
- Davis, V. W. (2017). Error reflection embracing growth mindset in the general music classroom. *General Music Today*, 30(2), 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/1048371316667160
- Delost, A. (2017). *The Power of Building a Growth Mindset Classroom*. Masters Thesis, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada.
- Dibley, L. (2011). Analyzing narrative data using McCormack's lenses. *Nurse Researcher*, *18*(3), 13–19. Retrieved from http://nurseresearcher.rcnpublishing.co.uk/news-and opinion/commentary/analysing-qualitative-data
- Dixson, D. D., Roberson, C. C. B., & Worrell, F. C. (2017). Psychosocial keys to african american achievement? Examining the relationship between achievement and psychosocial variables in high achieving african americans. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 28(2), 120–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X17701734
- Dweck, C. S. (2006). Mindset: the new psychology of success. New York, NY: Ballantine Books.
- Dweck, C. S. (2009). Who will the 21st-century learners be? *Knowledge Quest*, 38, 8–10.

 Retrieved from http://go.galegroup.com.pitt.idm.oclc.org/ps/i.do?id=

 GALE%7CA215720515 &v=2.1&u=upitt_main&it=r&p=AI&sw=

 w&asid=c117a7363df94452afdf953f34e315f7
- Dweck, C. S. (2010). Mind-sets and equitable education. *Principal Leadership*, 10(5), 26–29.

- Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc. org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/216292274? accountid=10248
- Dweck, C. (2014). Transcript of "The power of believing that you can improve". Retrieved from https://www.ted.com/talks/carol_dweck_the_power_of_believing_that_you_can_improve /transcript?language=en
- Dweck, C. S. (2015). Carol Dweck revisits the "Growth Mindset." *Education Week*, *35*(5), 20–24. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Dweck, C. (2016). Mindset: The new psychology of success. New York, NY: Random House.
- Dweck, C. S., & Henderson, V. L. (1989). Theories of intelligence: Background and measures. Paper presented at the Biennial Meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development, Kansas, MO. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 3 12 057).
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews.

 *Archives of Sexual Behavior, 41(6), 1319–1320. doi: http://dx.doi.org.cupdx.idm.oclc.

 org/10.1007 /s10508-012-0016-6
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *53*(1), 109–132. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych. 53.100901.135153
- EdSource. (2000). *National accountability movement offers lessons for California*. Palo Alto, CA: EdSource, Inc. Retrieved from http://www.edsource.org/pdf.
- Elman, C., & Kapiszewski, D. (2017). *Benefits and challenges of making qualitative research more transparent*. Retrieved from https://www.insidehighered.com/blogs/rethinking-research/benefits-and-challenges-making-qualitative-research-more-transparent
- Esparza, J., Shumow, L., & Schmidt, J. A. (2014). Growth mindset of gifted seventh grade

- students in science. *NCSSSMST Journal*, *19*(1), 6–13. Retrieved from http://libproxy. unitec.ac.nz: 2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=ehh&AN=96799326&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Faber, J., & Fonseca, L. M. (2014). How sample size influences research outcomes. *Dental Press Journal of Orthodontics*, 19(4), 27–29. http://doi.org/10.1590/2176-9451.19.4.027-029.ebo
- Farnsworth, B. (2016). What is participant bias? Retrieved from https://imotions.com/blog/participant-bias/
- Fegley, A. D. (2010). *Cultivating a growth mindset in students at a high-achieving high school* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://library.tc.columbia.edu/
- Fischer, C. T. (2009). Bracketing in qualitative research: Conceptual and practical matters, *Psychotherapy Research*, *19*(4–5), 583–590, DOI:10.1080/10503300902798375
- Fry, P. S. (1984). Teachers' conceptions of student's intelligence and intelligent functioning: A cross-sectional study of elementary, secondary and tertiary level teachers. *International Journal of Psychology*, *19*, 457–474.
- Funk, C., & Parker, K. (2018). Women and men in stem often at odds over workplace equity. Retrieved from https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2018/01/09/women-and-men-in-stem-often-at-odds-over-workplace-equity/
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 The Qualitative Report, 20(9), 1408–1416. Retrieved from

 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1721368991/

- Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., & Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: interviews and focus groups. *Bdj*, *204*, 291–295. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bdj.2008.192
- Glaser, B. G., Strauss, A. L. (1999). *Discovery of grounded theory*. New York, NY: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203793206
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, 18(1), 59–82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Gunn, J. (2018). *How to build a growth mindset for teachers*. Retrieved from https://education.cu-portland.edu/blog/classroom-resources/growth-mindset-for-teachers/
- Gutshall, C. A. (2013). Teachers' mindsets for students with and without disabilities.

 *Psychology in the Schools, 50(10), 1073–1083. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.

 org /login?url = https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview

 /1651848256?accountid=10248
- Gutshall, C. A. (2014). Pre-service teachers' mindset beliefs about student ability. *Electronic Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, *12*(3), 785–802. https://doi.org/10.14204/ejrep.34.14030
- Hackshaw, A. (2008). Small studies: Strengths and limitations. *European Respiratory Journal*, 32(5), 1141–1143. doi:10.1183/09031936.00136408
- Hall, C. J. (2013). Building a culture of growth and evaluation in schools. *Independent School*, 73(1), n1. Retrieved from http://library.valdosta.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=fth&AN=90400179&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Hanson, J., Bangert, A., & Ruff, W. (2016). A validation study of the what's my school mindset? survey. *Journal of Educational Issues*, 2(2), 244–266. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1895975282?accountid=10248
- Hatch, J. A. (2002). *Doing qualitative research in education settings*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Hayward, M. O. (2015). Got grit? Leading and teaching for success. *AMLE Magazine*, *3*(3), 24–26. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1723286702?accountid=10248
- Heckman, M. E. (2009). *Motivational strategies for students who attend Title I schools*. Masters

 Thesis, Reis University, Denver, Colorado. Retrieved from

 https://epublications.regis.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article =1030&context=theses
- Herrera, J. C., Sr. (2010). Teacher beliefs and practices: Their effects on student achievement in the urban school setting (Order No. 3408124). Available from Education Database; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global: The Humanities and Social Sciences Collection. (597211416). Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/597211416?accountid=10248
- Hochanadel, A., & Finamore, D. (2015). Fixed and growth mindset in education and how grit helps students persist in the face of adversity. *Journal of International Education**Research, 11(1), 47–50. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=

 https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1697491004?accountid=10248
- Hooker, D. (2013). Successful title one schools: What works and why? An exploratory case

- study of a distinguished title one school in South Carolina. (Doctoral dissertation).

 Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/2449
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, P. S. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews:

 Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17(42), 1–

 10. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquestcom.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/ docview/1312422384?accountid=10248
- Jensen, E. (2014). A descriptive study of differences between teachers at high and low performing title I elementary schools (Order No. 3616282). Available from Education Database; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global: The Humanities and Social Sciences Collection. (1526021001). Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url= https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1526021001?accountid=10248
- Johnson, R. B. (1997). Examining the validity structure of qualitative research. *Education*, 118(2), 282–292. https://doi.org/Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR4-3/winter.html
- Kiefer, S. M., Ellerbrock, C., & Alley, K. (2015). The role of responsive teacher practices in supporting academic motivation at the middle level. *RMLE Online*, *38*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/19404476.2014.11462114
- Krueger, R. A. (2002). Designing and conducting focus group interviews. Retrieved from http://www.comm.umn.edu/~akoerner/courses/5431-S10/Krueger-FocusGroupInterviews.pdf
- Laerd.com. (n.d.). *Threats to internal validity*. Retrieved from http://dissertation.laerd.com/internal-validity-p3.php#threat3
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of*

- Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(3), 324–327. http://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- McLeod, S. (2008). *Case study method*. Retrieved from https://www.simplypsychology.org/case-study.html
- Miller, T. (2011). *Partnering for education reform*. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/news/speeches/partnering-education-reform
- Muñoz, M. A., Scoskie, J. R., & French, D. L. (2013). Investigating the "black box" of effective teaching: The relationship between teachers' perception and student achievement in a large urban district. *Educational Assessment, Evaluation and Accountability, 25*(3), 205–230. http://dx.doi.org.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s11092-013-9167-9 Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1398612852?accountid=10248
- Murphy, M. (2014). What are the benefits and drawbacks of case study research? Retrieved from https://socialtheoryapplied.com/2014/05/24/benefits-drawbacks-case-study-research/
- Nagle, J., & Taylor, D. (2016). Using a personal learning framework to transform middle grades teaching practice. *Middle Grades Research Journal*, 11(1), 85–100. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1925831127?accountid=10248
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). Undergraduate retention and graduation rates.

 Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_ctr.asp

- National Middle School Association. (2009). Putting middle grades students on the graduation path: a policy and practice brief (June). Westerville, OH: Balfanz
- O'Brien, M., Makar, K., Fielding-Wells, J., & Hillman, J. (2015). How inquiry pedagogy enables teachers to facilitate growth mindsets in mathematics classrooms. *Proceedings of the 38th annual conference of the Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia* (pp. 469–476). Sunshine Coast, QLD: MERGA.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Dickinson, W. B., Leech, N. L., & Zoran, A. G. (2009). A Qualitative Framework for Collecting and Analyzing Data in Focus Group Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(3), 1–21. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800301
- Ortlipp, M. (2008). Keeping and using reflective journals in the qualitative research process. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(4), 695–705.
- Pandey, S. C., & Patnaik, S. (2014). Establishing reliability and validity in qualitative inquiry: A critical examination. *Jharkhand Journal of Development and Management Studies*, 12(1), 5743–5753.
- Pharris-Ciurej, N., Hirschman, C., & Willhoft, J. (2012). The 9th Grade Shock and the High School Dropout Crisis. *Social Science Research*, *41*(3), 709–730. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2011.11.014
- Price, J., & Murnan, J. (2004). Research limitations and the necessity of reporting them. *Journal* of Health Education, 35(2), 66–67.
- Rathunde, K., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2005). Middle school students' motivation and quality of experience: A comparison of montessori and traditional school environments. *American Journal of Education*, 111(3), 341–371. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?

- url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/223980261? accountid=10248
- Rhew, E. A. (2017). The effects of a growth mindset intervention on self-efficacy and motivation of adolescent special education students (Order No. 10264628).

 Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1884314077). Retrieved from https://login.libweb.lib.utsa.edu/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.libweb.lib. utsa.edu/docview/1884314077?accountid=7122
- Robinson, C. (2017). Growth mindset in the classroom. *Science Scope*, *41*(2), 18–21. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/docview/1942178538?accountid=7053
- Ross, M. W., Iguchi, M. Y., & Panicker, S. (2018). Ethical aspects of data sharing and research participant protections. *American Psychologist*, 73(2), 138–145. doi:http://dx.doi.org.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/10.1037/amp0000240
- Rowley, J. (2003). Using case studies in research. *Management Research News*, 25(1), 16–27.
- Ruiz, E. C. (2010). Setting higher expectations: Motivating middle graders to succeed. Retrieved from https://www.amle.org/BrowsebyTopic/WhatsNew/WNDet/TabId /270/
 ArtMID/888/ArticleID/307/Setting-Higher-Expectations-Motivating-Middle-Graders-to-Succeed.aspx
- Santos, J. M. (2014). An assessment of school belonging and academic motivation among Latino middle school students. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1530478044?

 accounted=10248
- Schmidt, J. A., Shumow, L., & Kackar-Cam, H. (2015). Exploring teacher effects for mindset intervention outcomes in seventh-grade science classes. *Middle Grades Research*

- Journal, 10(2), 17–32. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login? url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview /1728219763?accountid=10248
- Schoolnet. (2018). *Demographic overview*. Retrieved from https://austinisd.schoolnet.com/account/PreFormattedReportsDisplay.aspx?report_type_id=0
- Seaton, F. S. (2017). Empowering teachers to implement a growth mindset. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 7363, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/02667363.2017.1382333
- Selingo, J. J. (2018). Why do so many students drop out of college? And what can be done about it? Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/grade-point/wp /2018/06 /08/why-do-so-many-students-drop-out-of-college-and-what-can-be-done-about-it/?noredirect=on&utm_term=.98c62ef17b9d
- Sharma, S. (2015). Promoting risk taking in mathematics classrooms: The importance of creating a safe learning environment. *The Mathematics Enthusiast*, 12(1), 290–306.
- Simon, M. (2011). The role of the researcher. *DissertationRecipes.com*. Retrieved from www.dissertationrecipes.com/.../uploads/2011/04/Role-of-the-Researcher.pdf.
- Snipes, J., & Tran, L. (2017). Growth mindset, performance avoidance, and academic behaviors in clark county school district. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory West. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1913348385?accountid=10248
- Sparks, S. D. (2013). 'Growth mindset' gaining traction as ed. strategy. *Education Week, 33*(3), 1–21. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-

- com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1441696432?accountid=10248
- Strahan, D., Hansen, K., Meyer, A., Buchanan, R., & Doherty, J. (2017). Integrating mindset interventions with language arts instruction: An exploratory study with seventh grade students. *RMLE Online: Research in Middle Level Education*, 40(7), 1–15. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm. oclc.org/docview/1969009258? accounted=10248
- Strosher, H. (2003). Prospective and practicing teachers' beliefs: A study of implicit theories of intelligence and teacher efficacy. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226–231.
- Tidd, M. (2016). Why teachers shouldn't be pencil-pushers in maths. Retrieved from https://www.tes.com/news/why-teachers-shouldnt-be-pencil-pushers-maths proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1833107739?accountid=10248
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *17*, 783–805.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). *Title I, part A program*. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleiparta/index.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015b). *Legislation, regulations and guidance -- Title I,*part a program. Retrieved from ttps://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleiparta/legislation.html
- Vansteenkiste, M., Simons, J., Lens, W., Sheldon, K. M., Deci, E. L. (2004). Motivating learning, performance, and persistence: The synergistic effects of intrinsic goal contents and autonomy-supportive contexts. *Journal of Personality and*

- Social Psychology, 87(2), 246–260. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.87.2.246
- Vissak, T. (2010). Recommendations for using the case study method in international business research. *The Qualitative Report*, *15*, 370–388.
- Wall, C., Glenn, S., Mitchinson, S., & Poole, H. (2004). Using a reflective diary to develop bracketing skills during a phenomenological investigation. *Nurse Researcher*, 11(4), 20–9. Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/200840943?accountid=10248
- Willis, B. (2014). The advantages and limitations of single case study analysis. *E-International Relations*. Retrieved from http://www.e-ir.info/2014/07/05/the-advantages-and-limitations-of-single-case-study-analysis/
- Woods, M. (n.d.). *Interviewing for research and analysing qualitative data: An overview*.

 Retrieved from http://owll.massey.ac.nz/pdf/interviewing-for-research-and-analysing-qualitative-data.pdf
- Yeager, D. S., Hullleman, C. S., Hinojosa, C., Lee, H. Y., O'Brien, J., Romero, C., Dweck, C. S. (2016). Using design thinking to improve psychological interventions: The case of the growth mindset during the transition to high school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 108(3), 374–391. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000098
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Analyzing case study evidence. In L. Bickman & D. J. Rog (Eds.), *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed., pp. 127–164). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zakrajsek, J. A. (2017). Promoting growth mindset in middle school students: An intervention using read-alouds (Order No. 10282051). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1925917592). Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login? url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/ 1925917592?

accountid=10248

Zainal, Z. (2007). Case study as a research method. *Jurnal Kemanusiaan*, 9, 1–6.

Appendix A: Invitation to Participate Letter

Greetings,

As most of you know, I am in a doctorate program at Concordia University and am currently working on the data collection phase of my dissertation. I am in need of six participants (preferably three male and three female) to participate in an initial interview, follow-up interview, and a focus group. None of these will take more than an hour. These will all be held at a time that is convenient for you. The information you provide will be kept confidential. If you fit the following criteria and would like to help me in this phase of my doctoral journey, please respond to **ME ONLY.** Thank you for your consideration. Oh, and there will be snacks provided during the interviews and focus group.

Criteria:

Participants must be:

- (a) general or special education teacher who is currently certified to teach grades 6–8,
- (b) a general or special education teacher who has worked for at least one year in a Title I middle school, and
- (c) a general or special education teacher who will be teaching in a Title I middle school during the 2018–2019 school year

Appendix B: Consent Form

Purpose and what you will be doing:

The purpose of this survey is to explore the perceptions of teachers in a Title One middle school in regard to growth mindset strategies in the classroom and their effect on the intrinsic motivation of students. We expect approximately six volunteers. No one will be paid to be in the study. We will begin enrollment on 09/01/2018 and end enrollment on 12/20/2018. To be in the study, you will participate in an initial interview, a follow-up interview, and a focus group or open-ended questionnaire. Each interview will take between 45–60 minutes. The focus group will also take between 45–60 minutes. The location of the meetings will be a place that is convenient for you. Each session will be recorded for data collection purposes.

Risks:

There are no risks to participating in this study other than providing your information. However, we will protect your information. Any personal information you provide will be coded so it cannot be linked to you. Any name or identifying information you give will be kept securely via electronic encryption or locked inside a lock box at the home of the researcher. When we or any of our investigators look at the data, none of the data will have your name or identifying information. We will only use a secret code to analyze the data. We will not identify you in any publication or report. Your information will be kept private at all times and then all study documents will be destroyed 3 years after we conclude this study.

Benefits:

The information you provide will help improve teaching strategies and training programs for new teachers that will improve student motivation and increase graduation rates for high school and college. You could benefit this by providing open and honest experiences about using growth mindset strategies in your classroom, which will, in turn, help you improve your practices.

Confidentiality:

This information will not be distributed to any other agency and will be kept private and confidential. The only exception to this is if you tell us abuse or neglect that makes us seriously concerned for your immediate health and safety. Interviews will be recorded. However, all recordings will be deleted immediately following transcription and member-checking. All other study-related materials will be kept secure for 3 years and then destroyed.

Right to Withdraw:

Your participation is greatly appreciated, but we acknowledge that the questions we are asking are personal in nature. You are free at any point to choose not to engage with or withdraw from the study. You may skip any questions you do not wish to answer. This study is not required and there is no penalty for not participating. If at any time you experience a negative emotion from answering the questions, we will stop asking you questions.

Contact Information:

You will receive a copy of this consent form. If you have questions you can talk to or write the principal investigator, Aressa Jones at email [redacted]. If you want to talk with a participant advocate other than the investigator, you can write or call the director of our institutional review board, Dr. OraLee Branch (email obranch@cu-portland.edu or call 503-493-6390).

Your Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information. I asked questions if I had them, and my questions were answered. I volunteer my consent for this study.

Participant Name		Date	TA HA
Participant Signature	Date		19.05
Investigator Name		Date	
Investigator Signature	Date	-	TO PECO TO THE CONTRACT OF THE
Investigator: Aressa Jones email: [redacted]			TAD C

Investigator: Aressa Jones email: [redacted] c/o: Professor Rinyka Allison, PhD Concordia University—Portland 2811 NE Holman Street Portland, Oregon 97221

Appendix C: Initial Interview Questions

Thank you for volunteering to be a participant in this research study, and for making time for this interview today. This research study aims to explore the perceptions of teachers in a Title One middle school who use growth mindset strategies in their classroom and its perceived effects on the intrinsic and extrinsic motivation of the students. This interview will last approximately 45–60 minutes, and I will ask you a series of questions focused on relevant background information, your perspectives/beliefs about growth mindsets, your specific practices and the supports and challenges you have encountered. I want to remind you that you do have the right to refrain from answering any question or withdraw your participation in this study at any time. This interview will be audio recorded. However, your identity will be kept confidential so feel free to answer the questions in any way you see fit. Are there any questions or concerns before we begin?

- 1. How long have you been a full-time teacher? How many years of your teaching service have been in a Title One school?
- 2. What grade levels and subjects do you currently teach?
- 3. How did you develop an interest in the growth mindset? (e.g. personal, educational, professional experiences)?
- 4. What learning opportunities have you experienced that prepared you for fostering a growth mindset through your teaching?
- 5. How long have you been using growth mindset strategies in your classroom?
- 6. How does growth mindset fits with their previous views on curriculum, pedagogy, and other classroom practices?
- 7. How do you define a growth mindset?
 - a. What does this term mean to you?
 - b. What are some characteristics or behaviors that a student with a growth mindset might display?

- 8. And what about a fixed mindset?
 - a. How do you understand the meaning of this term?
 - b. What are some characteristics and behaviors that a student with a fixed mindset might display?
- 9. What factors and resources support you in your commitment to fostering a growth mindset in students? (e.g. school climate, supportive admin/leadership from admin, professional development resources, books, ted talks, videos, websites etc.)
- 10. What is your understanding of extrinsic and intrinsic motivation?
- 11. Which type of motivation do you think your students currently exhibit? Why do you think that is?
- 12. In your experience, in what ways does praise for your students have an effect on their learning and motivation?

Appendix D: Follow-Up Interview Questions

Thank you again, for volunteering to be a participant in this research study, and for making time for this interview today. This research study aims to explore the perceptions of teachers in a Title One middle school who use growth mindset strategies in their classroom and its perceived effects on the intrinsic and extrinsic motivation of the students. This interview will last approximately 45–60 minutes, and I will ask you a series of questions focused on relevant background information, your perspectives/beliefs about growth mindsets, your specific practices and the supports and challenges you have encountered. I want to remind you that you do have the right to refrain from answering any question or withdraw your participation in this study at any time. This interview will be audio recorded. However, your identity will be kept confidential so feel free to answer the questions in any way you see fit. Are there any questions or concerns before we begin?

- 1. Since the initial interview how has the amount of growth mindset strategies used in your classroom changed?
- 2. Has your attitude about growth mindset changed during the course of this study? Why or why not?
- 3. Has growth mindset PD or any practices you have implemented changed your perceptions? Changed your actions in class? Changed your plans for the future?
- 4. Which type of motivation, extrinsic or intrinsic, do you feel is most important for the success of students? Who do you think so?
- 5. Have you noticed any changes in student motivation? If so, what changes have you noticed? Can you provide a specific example of this?
- 6. Do you think motivation is related to academic success? Why or why not?
- 7. Is there anything else you would like to add about your experiences and perceptions of growth mindset strategies and its relation to student motivation?

Appendix E: Focus Group Questions

Thank you for volunteering to be a participant in this research study, and for making time for this focus group. This research study aims to explore the perceptions of teachers in a Title One middle school who use growth mindset strategies in their classroom and its perceived effects on the intrinsic and extrinsic motivation of the students. This group session will last approximately 45–60 minutes, and I will ask you a series of questions focused on relevant background information, your perspectives/beliefs about growth mindsets, your specific practices, the supports and challenges you have encountered, and any additional information you would like to share with this group. I want to remind you that you do have the right to refrain from answering any question or withdraw your participation in this group at any time. This group session will be audio recorded. Your identity will be kept confidential so please feel free to answer as you see fit. However, while I can guarantee that your information will be protected in this study, if you are concerned about linking yourself or others to anything you would like to share during the focus group, you are encouraged to speak in general terms. At any time during the focus group should you choose not to share answers with the group you also have the option to answer the questions as an open-ended questionnaire. Are there any questions or concerns before we begin?

- 1. If I were to spend a day in your classroom looking at growth mindset, what I hear and see from you? What would I hear and see from students?
- 2. How do students respond to your approach to teaching a growth mindset? What indicators of learning do you see from them?
 - a. What types of student outcomes do you see associated with your efforts using growth mindset (e.g., effort, motivation, interest in learning)? Please describe types and what they look like.
- 3. How, if at all, do you encourage students to face challenges and take risks, even when failure is a possibility? In what ways, if at all, do you address failures or errors in your classroom? Can you relay some examples of how you have done this? What outcomes did you observe from students?
- 4. How do you maintain a growth mindset in a student who is struggling and is not seeing the academic results they desire?

_	
5.	Is there anything else any of you would like to share with the group about growth
	mindset or student motivation?

Appendix F: Statement of Original Work

The Concordia University Doctorate of Education Program is a collaborative community of scholar-practitioners, who seek to transform society by pursuing ethically-informed, rigorously-researched, inquiry-based projects that benefit professional, institutional, and local educational contexts. Each member of the community affirms throughout their program of study, adherence to the principles and standards outlined in the Concordia University Academic Integrity Policy. This policy states the following:

Statement of academic integrity.

As a member of the Concordia University community, I will neither engage in fraudulent or unauthorized behaviors in the presentation and completion of my work, nor will I provide unauthorized assistance to others.

Explanations:

What does "fraudulent" mean?

"Fraudulent" work is any material submitted for evaluation that is falsely or improperly presented as one's own. This includes, but is not limited to texts, graphics and other multi-media files appropriated from any source, including another individual, that are intentionally presented as all or part of a candidate's final work without full and complete documentation.

What is "unauthorized" assistance?

"Unauthorized assistance" refers to any support candidates solicit in the completion of their work, that has not been either explicitly specified as appropriate by the instructor, or any assistance that is understood in the class context as inappropriate. This can include, but is not limited to:

- Use of unauthorized notes or another's work during an online test
- Use of unauthorized notes or personal assistance in an online exam setting
- Inappropriate collaboration in preparation and/or completion of a project
- Unauthorized solicitation of professional resources for the completion of the work.

Statement of Original Work (Continued)

I attest that:

- 1. I have read, understood, and complied with all aspects of the Concordia University–Portland Academic Integrity Policy during the development and writing of this dissertation.
- 2. Where information and/or materials from outside sources has been used in the production of this dissertation, all information and/or materials from outside sources has been properly referenced and all permissions required for use of the information and/or materials have been obtained, in accordance with research standards outlined in the *Publication Manual of The American Psychological Association*

in the Publication Manual of The American Psychological Association
aresse Plones
Digital Signature
Aressa R. Jones
Name (Typed)
6/01/2019
Date